
Agenda for a meeting of the Shipley Area Committee to 
be held on Wednesday, 11 March 2020 at 6.00 pm in 
Council Chamber - Shipley Town Hall
Members of the Committee – Councillors
LABOUR CONSERVATIVE GREEN

Greenwood
Jenkins

Heseltine
Barker
Davies
Riaz
Sullivan
Townend

Warnes

Alternates:
LABOUR CONSERVATIVE GREEN

Hinchcliffe
Ross-Shaw

Ellis
Pennington
Pollard
Smith
Whiteley
Winnard

Love

Notes:
 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 

contacting the Agenda contact shown below.
 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed except if 

Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered by Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be respectful to the conduct of 
the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such as oral commentary) will not be 
permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes to record or film the meeting's 
proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda Contact who will provide guidance and ensure 
that any necessary arrangements are in place. Those present who are invited to make spoken 
contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded.

 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the officer 
named at the foot of that agenda item.

Decisions on items marked * are not Executive functions and may not be called in 
under Paragraph 8.7 of Part 3E of the Constitution.
From: To:
Parveen Akhtar
City Solicitor

Agenda Contact: Asad Shah
Phone: 01274 434580/2280
E-Mail: jill.bell@bradford.gov.uk/asad.shah@bradford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



2

A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS

1.  ALTERNATE MEMBERS (Standing Order 34) 

The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are 
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.  

2.  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)

To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest.

An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting.

Notes:

(1) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(2) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

(3) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity.

(4) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 
Standing Order 44.

3.  MINUTES 

Recommended –

That the minutes of the meeting held on 6 November 2019 be 
signed as a correct record (previously circulated).

(Asad Shah – 01274 432280)



3

4.  INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 

(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)

Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.  

Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.  

If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.  

Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.  

(Palbinder Sandhu - 01274 432269)

5.  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)

To hear questions from electors within the District on any matter this is 
the responsibility of the Committee.  

Questions must be received in writing by the City Solicitor in 
Room 112, City Hall, Bradford, BD1 1HY, by mid-day on Monday 9 
March 2020.

(Palbinder Sandhu - 01274 432269)

B. BUSINESS ITEMS

6.  *SHIPLEY AREA COMMITTEE AND SHIPLEY CONSTITUENCY 
AREA PARTNERS' ADVISORY GROUP (SCAPAG) ISSUES 

Up to a maximum of 15 minutes will be allowed for SCAPAG members 
to raise new items of information, questions, requests or suggestions 
that may have arisen within their organisation/neighbourhood and 
which are relevant to raise at the meeting.

Issues raised in accordance with the above must be received in writing 
by the Shipley Area Co-ordinator’s Office in Shipley Town Hall, 
Shipley, BD18 3EJ, by mid-day on Monday 9 March 2020.

(Damian Fisher – 01274 437146)



4

7.  *SCAPAG MEETING NOTES - WEDNESDAY 15 JANUARY 2020 

The Area Co-ordinator will present the notes (Document “X”) of 
SCAPAG contributions made at the meeting with the Area Committee 
held on 15 January  2020.

Recommended – 

That the notes be received.
(Damian Fisher – 01274 437146)

1 - 4

8.  PROTECTING CHILDREN AND VULNERABLE ADULTS AT RISK 
OF EXPLOITATION 

The report of the Chief Executive Office (Document “Y”) provides an 
update to and builds on the report presented to the Shipley Area 
Committee on the 16th January 2019 regarding the issue of Child 
Sexual Exploitation (CSE).  The report now focuses on the Strategic 
Response to all forms of exploitation in Children and Adults and how 
partners from the Working Together to Safeguard Children – the 
Bradford Partnership and the Bradford Safeguarding Adults Board 
work to drive improvements across the District and to hold agencies to 
account for their work in their area. This report also outlines the 
emergence of other complex safeguarding themes and outlines how 
partners are effectively collaborating and focussing upon the protection 
of vulnerable Children and Adults. 

Recommended –

(1) The Area Committee is invited to consider the contents of 
this report and how members can support local activity.

(2) The Area Committee shall receive a further update on the 
progress of the response to exploitation in 12 months time.

(3) Partners will seek further funding opportunities from 
Government funding streams to enable the continuation of 
service provision as outlined in this report.

(4) This report is a call to action for all partners to recognise 
exploitation in its widest sense and continue to provide a 
coordinated safeguarding response to children and 
vulnerable adults. 

(Mark Griffin – 01274 434361)

5 - 60



5

9.  SHIPLEY AREA NEIGHBOURHOOD POLICING TEAM ACTIVITY TO 
ADDRESS THE "SAFER COMMUNITIES" PRIORITIES WITHIN THE 
SHIPLEY CONSTITUENCY WARD PLANS FOR 2017-2019 

The report of the Shipley Neighbourhood Policing Team (Document 
“Z”) gives an update of some of the work undertaken by the Shipley 
Area Neighbourhood Policing Team and an overview of the Shipley 
Constituency Performance data.

Recommended -

(1) That Shipley Area Committee notes the work undertaken by 
the Shipley Area Neighbourhood Policing Team from 1 
January  and 31 December 2019 that contributed to 
addressing priorities within the ward plans for the Shipley 
Area.

(2) That the Shipley Area Committee notes the positive 
partnership working that has been established with Elected 
Members, Council Officers, community organisations, 
volunteers and residents within the Shipley Area.

(Damian Fisher – 01274 437062) 

61 - 70

10.  COMMUNITY CHEST GRANTS 1 APRIL 2019 TO 31 MARCH 2020 

The report of the Area Co-ordinator (Document “AA”) summarises the 
Community Chest Grants awarded in the financial year April 2019 to 
March 2020 for the benefit of communities within the Shipley 
Constituency.

Recommended -

(1) That the wide range of groups, organisations and 
individuals across the Shipley Area which have benefited 
from receiving a Community Chest grant be noted and 
welcomed.

(2) That the Grants Advisory Group is thanked for their work in 
allocating Community Chest grants.

(Damian Fisher – 01274 437062)

71 - 74

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER



This page is intentionally left blank



SHIPLEY AREA COMMITTEE AND SHIPLEY CONSTITUENCY AREA PARTNERS’ 
ADVISORY GROUP (SCAPAG)

WEDNESDAY 15 JANUARY 2020
SHIPLEY TOWN HALL

X
NOTES OF SCAPAG CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE MEETING

Present: Trevor Dufton (Wilsden Parish Council), Joe Ashton (Baildon Town Council), 
Chris Turner (Burley-in-Wharfedale Parish Council), Howard Clough (Bingley 
Town Council)

Apologies: David Jessop and Gillian Thorne (Wrose Parish Council)

Item 5:  SCAPAG ISSUES

None.

Item 6:  SCAPAG MEETING NOTES – 17 JULY 2019

No comments.

Item 7:  NOMINATION TO LIST PROPERTY AS AN ASSET OF COMMUNITY VALUE – 
SUN INN

Presenting Officers: Nigel Gillatt

No comments.

Item 8:  YOUTH SERVICE UPDATE - SHIPLEY

Presenting Officers: Damian Fisher, Carole Bywater, Emily Ralph

Trevor Dufton: Thanks for the excellent work and to the Council for not cutting this 
essential budget.

Joe Ashton: I can confirm that we are hoping to meet in early February regarding Ian 
Clough Hall.  We have put aside £7k to assist with the transition.  

Joe Ashton: Just to clarify, the Youth Council is a Town Council project supported by the 
Council rather than the other way round.  Also, Baildon Parish covers the area around St 
Hugh’s even though it’s in the Shipley Ward.

Joe Ashton: I agree that somewhere in middle Baildon would be ideal.  It’s finding the right 
facility that’s available on the day and time we require it.  It would be good if the District 
Councillors could attend the meeting in February regarding Ian Clough Hall.

Page 1

Agenda Item 7/



2

Item 9:  UPDATE ON FAMILY HUBS IMPLEMENTATION AND OUTCOMES FROM 
THE CHILDREN’S CENTRE ESTATES CONSULTATION

Presenting Officers: Elke Crunden, Cath Dew, Mandy Lakes

Joe Ashton: Baildon Town Council would have liked to take over the children’s centre to 
use for their office and the library.  However, there are some obstacles to overcome and 
these won’t be resolved in time to get the CAT through.

Item 10:  BRADFORD OPPORTUNITY AREA: SHIPLEY BRIEFING

Presenting Officer: Lee Turner

No comments.

Item 11: PARKS AND GREEN SPACES ANNUAL REPORT

Presenting Officers: Damian Fisher, David Cansfield

Joe Ashton: Roberts Park is absolutely brilliant and a credit to everyone involved.  The 
‘Friends Of’ events at the bandstand are very good.  

Joe Ashton: There have been three major events in the last year, some of which have 
grown considerably over recent years.  I’m not sure if residents have been consulted but 
they have raised concerns over issues such as litter and noise.  They are very good 
events but this needs to be balanced with residents’ concerns.

Joe Ashton: The shelters in Roberts Park are beautiful buildings but can be full of litter and 
graffiti and some of the benches have been burnt. It can be quite embarrassing when 
there are visitors to the park, for example at Saltaire Festival.

Joe Ashton: I would like to say that the Higher Coach Road nature trail has been a huge 
success, so thank you to those involved.

Joe Ashton: Baildon Town Council is working on areas to renaturalise.  The issue of 
weeds has been raised by Baildon in Bloom.  It seems they have been particularly bad 
this last year.  Maybe the weed spraying contract could be looked at.

Joe Ashton:  With regards to the small play area on Dewhirst Road, we have made a 
significant contribution to the improvements there and an acknowledgement would be 
appreciated.

Joe Ashton: The tennis courts need bringing back to life with a bit of TLC.  They are 
lacking a net and a fence and there are a few potholes.  

Joe Ashton: Thank you for the good things but can we work on the not so good?

Page 2



3

Item 12: STREET CLEANSING AND ENVIRONMENTAL WARDENS – PERFORMANCE 
AND CHANGES TO SERVICE DELIVERY

Presenting Officers: Damian Fisher, Stuart Russo, Richard Colman

Chris Turner: I’m interested in the spikes relating to complaints.  Was this the same in 
other areas?

Stuart Russo: Shipley is quite a rural area and it was more of a problem here than in most 
of the other areas.  Initially, it took staff a while to get on board and Baildon, Burley and 
Bingley took a bit longer. Bradford South had similar issues.  It was a major change for the 
service.

Cllr Heseltine: Whenever we had complaints they were dealt with swiftly and efficiently.

Trevor Dufton: Our warden is excellent so please don’t move him.

Joe Ashton: I echo comments made about leaf clearance.  It’s been pretty bad and 
unpleasant under foot.  The Town Council may be interested in hiring a mechanical 
sweeper privately.  

Joe Ashton: When the UCI road race came through our area, Otley Road and Baildon 
Bridge were cleaned thoroughly but it was very clear to see where that started and ended.

Joe Ashton: Dave McDougall should be recognised for his fantastic work with Litter Free 
Baildon.

Joe Ashton:  There is an issue with communal waste on Incommunities land at Southcliffe 
and also on the moor.  The bin at Bracken Hall was the fullest I have ever seen a bin.

Joe Ashton:  The Town Council has been providing a lengthsman service to maintain 
snickets and undertake other small jobs.  We used a team from Shipley College but we 
are now having problems with that.  We have £10k to either employ someone, pay 
towards a Council employee or do something inbetween.

Stuart Russo: Wilsden, Harden and Cullingworth pay for extra hours from us.  We can 
have a look at that.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Chief Executive Office to the meeting of 
the Shipley Area Committee to be held on the 11th 
March 2020

Y

Subject:  

PROTECTING CHILDREN AND VULNERABLE ADULTS AT RISK OF EXPLOITATION

Summary statement:

This report provides an update to and builds on the report presented to the Shipley 
Area Committee on the 16th January 2019 regarding the issue of Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE). It now focuses on the Strategic Response to all forms of 
exploitation in Children and Adults and how partners from the Working Together to 
Safeguard Children – the Bradford Partnership and the Bradford Safeguarding 
Adults Board work to drive improvements across the District and to hold agencies 
to account for their work in their area. This report also outlines the emergence of 
other complex safeguarding themes and outlines how partners are effectively 
collaborating and focussing upon the protection of vulnerable Children and Adults. 

Kersten England
Chief Executive 

Portfolio:  

Children and Families, Health and Wellbeing

Report Contact:  Mark Griffin
Manager of Bradford Safeguarding 
Children Board
Phone: (01274) 434361
E-mail: mark.griffin@bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Children’s Services, Health and Wellbeing

Page 5

Agenda Item 8/



1

1. SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides an update to the report presented to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and to the Area Committees in January 2019 regarding the issue of 
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and also the emerging issue of other criminal 
exploitation. Previously, the Bradford Safeguarding Children Board (BSCB) has 
coordinated the District response and this is now coordinated by the new Working 
Together to Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership (TBP). This ensures 
that partners are working to improve how children are supported and protected and 
to seek assurance for work in this area. This report now focuses on the strategic 
response to all forms of exploitation to Children and Adults and how partners are 
contributing to improve service provision across the District. The report also outlines 
the emergence of other complex and contextual safeguarding themes and the 
subsequent partnership response. Partners are continuing to effectively work 
together to protect vulnerable Children and Adults and particularly through 
increased collaborative work between TBP, Bradford Safeguarding Adults Board 
(BSAB) and the Community Safety Partnership (CSP). This has been achieved 
through an improved awareness and understanding which has enabled 
professionals to recognise and respond at an earlier stage to wider types of 
exploitation. (See Appendix A for definitions)

1.2 In summary:
 Recently published Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 guidance 

has resulted in changes to safeguarding arrangements nationally and 
partners in Bradford have agreed and implemented appropriate measures. 
The Bradford Safeguarding Children Board (BSCB) is now known as 
Working Together to Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership (TBP). 

 As part of these new arrangements, partners have recognised the 
emergence of wider safeguarding themes within TBP Strategic Plan 2019-
20.

 The previous CSE/Missing strategic sub group within the Childrens 
safeguarding arrangements has now an extended remit to coordinate activity 
around a number of themes and includes membership from the Bradford 
Safeguarding Adults Board (BSAB) and the Community Safety Partnership 
(CSP). This group is now known as the Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex 
Safeguarding. 

 Partners have finalised a Strategic Response to CSE and also a strategic 
response to Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding, and recently 
published a new Exploitation protocol for children. 

 The dedicated CSE/Missing Operational group continues to develop and 
improve the partnership response to children at risk to CSE and Missing and 
provides operational responses in the delivery of the Strategic plans. 

 Bradford District Police Cyber Team and other partners continue to deliver 
training around topics relating to exploitation and on-line safety.

 The Bradford Partnership has commissioned an independent thematic 
Serious Case Review of CSE.

 Front Door arrangements within Childrens Social Care have been extended 
to address wider exploitation, with the development of new multi-agency 
processes.

 A District Communications and Engagement sub-group continues to provide 
practitioners, parents, carers, children and communities with proactive, 

Page 6



2

innovative and consistent approaches to communications and this will be 
enhanced with a new website for the new Children and Adults Safeguarding 
arrangements and the Community Safety Partnership. 

 Partners have developed a number of positive initiatives to respond to 
children at risk of sexual and criminal exploitation. A Steering Group 
coordinates activity and oversees commissioning arrangements.

 Adult exploitation has been recognised by the BSAB and work is underway 
to develop understanding and how partners can safeguard vulnerable Adults. 

 Innovative methods of raising awareness continue through Safeguarding 
Stories and work within schools involving the theatre company which 
produced Mr Shape Shifter, Somebody’s Sister and Somebody’s Daughter 
and now Kidpower.

 Safeguarding partners from both Children’s and Adults have come together 
to consider joint pieces of work such as transitions. 

2      Background 
2.1 Nationally and locally, Safeguarding partners are now addressing the emergence of 

numerous themes including Serious & Organised Crime, Modern Day Slavery and 
criminal exploitation as new threats in a similar way to the same conversations in 
the last decade around Child Sexual Exploitation. This is not only within children’s 
safeguarding arrangements but also recognising that vulnerable Adults can be 
exploited in the same way. These complex safeguarding matters impact across the 
Working Together to Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership (TBP), 
Bradford Safeguarding Adults Board (BSAB) and the Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP). Scrutiny and quality assurance has also increased through the 
media, inspections and inquiries both locally and nationally. 

2.2      Governance and Infrastructure
2.3 Working Together to Safeguarding Children - The Bradford Partnership (TBP)

Following changes brought about by government legislation the BSCB ceased to 
exist and from the 1st September 2019 new arrangements are now in place. The 
legislative framework behind these changes is the Children and Social Work Act 
2017 as well as new guidance in Working Together to Safeguarding Children 2018. 
The changes set out new statutory responsibilities for the three key agencies 
responsible for safeguarding within the District, namely Bradford Council (through 
the Children’s Services department) the Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven, Bradford 
City and Bradford Districts CCG (Clinical Commissioning Group) and West 
Yorkshire Police. These partners lead on safeguarding have equal and joint 
responsibility for safeguarding arrangements. There are also a number of “relevant 
agencies” who are also involved with safeguarding of children within Bradford.
 

2.4 Partners in Bradford have agreed a structure that caters for the needs of children in 
Bradford.  The previous board has been replaced with a Partnership group, chaired 
by the Independent Chair and Scrutiny Lead. Sub-groups continue to develop 
policies, multi-agency training, quality assurance and coordinate Child 
Safeguarding Practice Reviews, previously known as Serious Case Reviews. 

2.5 Bradford has continued to recognise opportunities to increase collaboration 
between the BSAB, CSP and the new Bradford Partnership and linked sub-groups. 
This is set against the backdrop of reducing budgets and increasing demands that 
bring organisational review and reshaping to deliver more with less.  Across each of 

Page 7



3

the three Boards, the sub-group structures manage core functions as well Board 
specific objectives. Some of these core functions create obvious opportunities for a 
more consistent and collaborative approach that takes into account cross-cutting 
themes and presents opportunities for shared learning. Work has commenced to 
develop these work streams. Appendix B outlines the details of the new 
arrangements. 

2.6 Bradford Safeguarding Adults Board (BSAB)
Work around exploitation of vulnerable Adults is still developing. This recognises 
the broader group of people who do not fall under the criteria as Adults at Risk 
within the Care Act. The BSAB has commissioned work to improve understanding 
and the response to people who may fall within this term. Various work streams are 
on-going which look at issues of homelessness, substance misuse, mental health 
and transitions. Partners have recognised that there are people who fall outside the 
statutory threshold for services as Adults but do need support and safeguarding. 
Future work streams include:

 The development of a multi-agency Safeguarding Adults Policy and 
Procedures group to agree and support local guidance and best practice in 
emerging wider complex safeguarding issues.

 Development of performance datasets, quality assurance and auditing to 
monitor the implementation and on-going quality of safeguarding responses 
to exploitation across the partnership.

 Strengthening links with Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding 
Group and Housing complex needs panel in developing pathways of support 
for adults with complex Non- Statutory Safeguarding issues. 

 A regional Task and Finish group is in development with West Yorkshire 
Financial Exploitation and Abuse Team to look at what safeguards can be 
put in place across Bradford to protect individuals susceptible to financial 
exploitation and abuse.

2.7 The Business Units for the previous BSCB and BSAB are now combined a single 
Unit which has improved the synergy between the two partnerships and allows a 
greater consistency of approach, efficiencies of working, sharing of good practice 
and increased resilience throughout all functions of the Business Unit. This is now 
known as the Bradford Safeguarding Partnership Business Team.

2.8 Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding Group.
Partners considered and developed a definition of complex safeguarding for 
children and agreed a local definition – behaviour or activity involving Children and 
Young People and Adults with multiple vulnerabilities where there is exploitation, a 
risk of exploitation and /or a clear or implied safeguarding concern which is likely to 
lead to a serious and sustained negative impact on Children & Young People. This 
definition covers a number of individual safeguarding themes.

2.9 Over a number of years Bradford has benefited from an established and 
experienced Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing Sub-Group. The group has now 
extended its remit to coordinate activity around a number of themes, in raising 
awareness and understanding. The group is now known as Risk and Vulnerabilities 
in Complex Safeguarding. The group includes representation from a number of 
partners and also across the impacts across TBP, the BSAB and the CSP. The 

Page 8



4

group has developed a Strategic Response (Appendix C). 

2.10 This strategy has 6 headings
1. Identify and understand the nature and scale of the themes involved. 
2. Prevention, Education and Awareness
3. Safeguarding vulnerable people, groups and communities
4. Effective leadership and governance
5. Disrupt and Prosecute
6. Communication, Engagement and Empowerment

2.11 West Yorkshire Risk and Vulnerability Group  
Bradford works closely with other Local Authorities and is a member of the West 
Yorkshire Risk and Vulnerability group which operates under the oversight of the 
West Yorkshire Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), seeking to support the 
delivery of the West Yorkshire Police and Crime Plan. This group evolved from a 
CSE group has now developed a West Yorkshire Contextual Children and Young 
People Safeguarding Strategy 2018-21.  

2.12 This group provides an opportunity for the sharing of good practice to learn and the 
development of a consistent approach to a number of processes. Work throughout 
the year has included strategic assessments and performance data around CSE, 
risk assessments, information sharing protocols and missing children placed out of 
Local Authority areas. A number of partnership events have also been held.

2.13 Child Exploitation
Partners have come together to develop new systems and procedures in Bradford 
for safeguarding and protecting the welfare of children from Child Exploitation.  
Within the Front Door, a restructure has taken place around staff, roles and 
protocols to enable partners to address exploitation in its widest sense. This builds 
upon the existing partnership approach which was recognised as a strength in the 
Ofsted inspection report published in October 2018. A multi-agency team involving 
Police, Early Help, Health, Barnardos and Education work in partnership to share 
information and agree care plans and service provision to children at risk of 
exploitation. Police have increased resources to deal with exploitation and Children 
Services staff are now multi-skilled which is a change to previous specialist teams. 
The new structure builds upon learning from the Oftsed inspection and provides 
some resilience. This team works closely with the Breaking the Cycles, Trusted 
Relationship and Family Against Youth Crime Projects (Para 2.53-2.61) signposting 
children identified and assessed at risk of exploitation to specialist service 
provision. 

2.14 New procedures around exploitation (link) outline how partners provide an 
enhanced, effective service to reduce the risks and to ensure that interventions are 
focussed, co-ordinated and have a positive impact on outcomes for Children and 
Young People. These changes recognise the wider exploitation issues that now 
exist and take into account the pathways for Children and Young People who go 
missing ,are at risk of Child Sexual or  Criminal Exploitation, are at risk of 
Radicalisation or who have been Trafficked. This work also includes a new 
exploitation assessment tool. This assists practitioners when making referrals and 
allows the assessment team to make an informed decision. This work is 

Page 9

http://bradfordscb.org.uk/


5

coordinated through the Bradford Partnership, and next steps will be 
communications to front line practitioners. Children and Young People have been 
consulted as part of the work, in the development of the assessment tool.  

2.15 This work follows on from the multi-agency work around Consent and the 
Continuum of Need. (Link) Front line practitioners are now using these documents 
and awareness raising continues to develop a consistent approach to consent and 
referrals. Though only introduced in July 2019, professionals within the Front Door 
have recognised that referrals indicate that practitioners have more confidence 
around these matters.

2.16 Child Criminal Exploitation.
Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) takes a variety of different forms. It can include 
children being forced or coerced into moving drugs or money across the country as 
part of Organised Crime Groups to other types of activity such as shoplifting, 
pickpocketing, or to threaten other young people. Recently child criminal 
exploitation has become strongly associated with one specific model known as ‘
county lines’. Criminal gangs are most likely to exploit children aged between 14 to 
17 year olds. National thinking recognises the need for earlier help for children at 
risk, responses that see children as victims and not criminals, and joined- up 
national and local responses. CCE is a complex problem that requires a joined-up 
approach from statutory and non-statutory agencies, and accurate sharing of 
intelligence and recording of concerns facing children. Through coordinated, 
concerted efforts across statutory and voluntary sectors, and by working with local 
communities and families, partners can reach vulnerable young people more 
quickly and begin to disrupt child criminal exploitation.
The recently published Counting Lives Report: responding to children who are 
criminally exploited provides more information around this theme. 
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-and-
publications/counting-lives-report 

2.17 Partners now convene a Tri-weekly multi-agency Child Exploitation meeting that 
looks at all aspects of Child exploitation, Criminal, Sexual and Missing, along with 
County Lines and other forms of Exploitation. This meeting tracks children who may 
be emerging, moderate or at significant risk.  Data feeds into a 6 weekly meeting 
and a strategic review of all significant risk cases. This provides multi agency 
scrutiny to ensure the most vulnerable children have the best support plans 
possible, provide information on locations of concern and any other specific 
themes.  Partners will also be considering those children who may already be at 
risk of CCE, including through Organised Crime Groups. Police teams are 
reviewing records to identify any children against the criteria and new procedure 
and are referring cases into this multi agency team. This will enable a multi agency 
and coordinated response based upon the existing and well established partnership 
working around CSE. 

2.18 Referrals are expected to increase as will subsequent demands upon all partners 
as awareness and understanding of wider exploitation grows. This is set against 
current austerity measures and increases in partnership demands evidenced from 
the Children Services Improvement Board. Effective and intelligent resourcing has 
enabled partners to prioritise activity in the areas of greater need as outlined with 
the projects in paragraphs 2.53-2.61. These projects focus upon preventive 

Page 10

http://bradfordscb.org.uk/favicon.ico
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-and-publications/counting-lives-report
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-and-publications/counting-lives-report


6

measures; working alongside other established locality models. These recognise 
the potential reduction in demands through prevention and early intervention. 

2.19 Child Sexual Exploitation & Missing
The CSE & Missing Operational Group provides a co-ordinated and focussed 
approach to tackling CSE, resulting in a greater depth and breadth of understanding 
about CSE and missing. Throughout the year the group has undertaken work to 
progress the BSCB CSE Strategic Response (Appendix D) and linked CSE action 
plan. Data around CSE and Missing can be found at Appendix E. The data and 
performance knowledge around criminal exploitation and children impacted by 
Serious Organised Crime is still under development. 

 There has been a decrease in the total numbers of children assessed as at 
risk of CSE from numbers in excess of 350 in November 2018 to 
approximately 125 in July 2019. This is due to a review and re-assessment 
process undertaken by partners who are involved in the work around CSE. 
Across West Yorkshire other Local Authority Areas are seeing a decrease in 
number of Children assessed at risk of CSE.

 The biggest reduction is in the 13-15 age groups. 
 As of 29/8/19 there were 94 Children and Young People (C&YP) flagged as 

at risk of CCE on Police systems; 94% are male and 55% defined their 
ethnicity as White British. The average age of those flagged is 14-16yrs. 
33% of C&YP with a CCE flag are shown as resident in Bradford West and 
30% resident in Bradford East. 

 Gender remains consistent with females accounting for approximately 80% 
in CSE cases. What is emerging is that the main percentage of children at 
risk of criminal exploitation is male. 

 The location of the highest numbers of children assessed as at risk has 
changed in the last year, from Bradford East to Bradford South constituency 
area.

 During the period 01/09/18 – 31/08/19 there have been 284 CSE flagged 
offences (162 recent, 122 non-recent) this is a decrease from 344 offences 
in the previous year (17% reduction). Bradford East and Bradford South 
each have 21% of recent offences with Keighley having 16%. With regards 
non-recent offences 39% have occurred in Keighley and 13% in Bradford 
West. In 17% of all flagged offences the location is not known. 

 The number of Missing episodes for Children Looked After (CLA) shows a 
decrease in 2018/19 (2587) from 2017/18 (3073) and 2016/17 (2932). 

2.20 The Police have led on partnership work with Environmental Health, Taxi Licensing, 
Barnardos, HMRC, Fire Service, Council Licencing, and Immigration. This has 
resulted in numerous successful proactive operations to prevent and disrupt 
criminal activity. Areas of activity include cafes, fast food establishments, snooker 
and multi-entertainment halls, hotels and domestic dwellings. 

2.21 Over the last 12 months the group have developed assessments and 
understanding of perpetrator profiles and victim profiles through the partnership 
analytical team. This has provided a variety of data around perpetrators and victims 
and helps look at the difference in both from a non-recent and recent perspective. 
This has enabled partners to identify trends and areas of focus and continue 

Page 11



7

targeted work.

 As of 26/2/19 there were 145 individuals linked to CSE flagged in Bradford; 52 
of those relate to recent offences the remainder non-recent. 35% of those 
flagged have an address recorded in the West of the District and 8% are 
resident outside of Bradford. This ‘flagging’ information pertains to individuals 
suspected of being concerned in CSE and relates to recent and non-recent 
offences where a crime or intelligence has been recorded. This figures show a 
slight increase in that of the previous year but a reduction in those flagged to 
recent offences.

 Of those concerned in recent occurrences 96% are male 38% of those flagged 
have a self-defined ethnicity of White British and 38% Pakistani. 32% are 
assessed as High Risk and 60% assessed a Medium.

 With regards non-recent occurrences all those flagged are male; none are risk-
assessed as high and 86% are assessed as low risk. 78% of those concerned in 
non-recent offences have a self-defined ethnicity of Pakistani.

 Analysis of the age of perpetrators at the time of both recent and non-recent 
offences shows that the highest number are in the age brackets of 16-18yrs 
(32%) and 20-21yrs (17%). 

2.22 In February 2019 Police and TBP hosted a CSE awareness event at a hotel in 
Bradford. Guests included business stakeholders from around Bradford. In 
attendance were faith establishments, shopping centres, care homes and many 
others. Guest speakers included Police and child social care along with Barnardos 
and the National Working Group on exploitation. There were also inputs from 
Crimestoppers and the intelligence professionals. Themes around awareness and 
wider forms of exploitation were examined. The event received positive feedback. 

2.23 In June during safeguarding week the Police hosted an event with partners from St 
Giles Trust, Barnardos, Health and Childrens Social Care. The event was held in 
the Broadway Centre and partners engaged with the public and offered advice and 
information on exploitation and how to report. 

2.24 Partners across Bradford are learning from the excellent work in Keighley with the 
Keighley Association Women & Children's Centre (KAWACC). This group has 
worked in partnership with United Keighley working group, which has established a 
safe space to co ordinate regular meetings, discussing issues relating to CSE, and 
raising awareness in and around Keighley and Bradford.  The group brings together 
a range of agencies that have an interest in supporting work associated with CSE. 
These have included members of the TBP, West Yorkshire Police, Social Care, 
Early Help, Community Workers, Local Councillors, local voluntary sector 
organisations, Faith Institutes and local primary and secondary schools. Within 
Bradford, a number of awareness campaigns, coordinated through groups like 
KAWACC have focused on parents to provide guidance and support and how to 
report concerns. Further details of this work can be found at Appendix G. 

 
2.25 Operation Dalesway – Historic CSE Concerns.

West Yorkshire Police and the Local Authority continue to work together in 
response to the issue of “non recent” CSE concerns. A specialist team has been 
established, known as “Operation Dalesway”, set up in October 2014.  Currently 
this consists of a Detective Inspector, 2 Detective Sergeants, 14 Detective 

Page 12



8

Constables, 15 investigative officers and 3 social care staff. Staffing levels for this 
service are being kept under review. The service has clear terms of reference which 
have been agreed by partner organisations. 

2.26 There are currently 10 live and 18 completed Operation Dalesway investigations. 
Of the live investigations 4 are long running investigations, 2 of these are at / 
approaching CPS charging stage, the others are at / approaching planned arrest 
phase. Victims for the other 6 investigations have only recently engaged with the 
investigative process and are still at victim disclosure stage.

2.27 To date approximately 150 suspects have been arrested / interviewed. A number of 
these suspects are still being investigated and new suspects continue to be 
positively identified as victims engage with the investigative process and provide 
disclosure.

2.28 In February 2019 at Bradford Crown Court, 9 of 10 defendants standing trial for 25 
Historic sexual offence indictments were found guilty. They were sentenced to a 
combined total of 132 years imprisonment.

2.29 Partners in Bradford continue to maximise opportunities to learn and improve 
service provision and the response to CSE and now wider exploitation. The 
Bradford Partnership has commissioned an independent thematic Serious Case 
Review into CSE. While this has been prompted by the recent convictions of nine 
men for grooming and abusing two young people, the SCR will be a thematic 
review of CSE that will look at other cases, both recent and non-recent, and will 
seek to engage positively with victims of abuse so that their experience informs the 
work directly. Partners are contributing towards this review and will act on the 
recommendations and learning that result from this review. 

2.30 Bradford District Cyber Team
Child sexual abuse and exploitation continues to grow. This is particularly true of 
online abuse where ever-more-sophisticated digital tools protect anonymity and 
where apps encourage children to engage in risky behaviour. Law enforcement 
agencies including the Police are working with partners from the industry and 
voluntary sector partners – both in the UK and abroad to raise awareness and 
support children and parents.

The team has been in place since 2015 and since the beginning of the 2018-2019 
academic year, the team have continued to make a significant contribution within 
the educational sector as well as targeting establishments that have key 
connections to early intervention, safeguarding and other various vulnerabilities. 

 42, 816 children educated on eSafeguarding from 1480 separate sessions, 
which is above the recommended target. This equates to approximately 70% 
of all primary school children. The remaining schools will either have training 
provision already in place or will be offered future training by the Team. 

 90 vulnerable children received one to one safeguarding visits with their 
parents/carers also present. 

 5376 members of the community from different groups delivered to from 186 
separate sessions. These groups included, NHS staff, Teachers, SEN staff, 
Governors, Social Workers.

Page 13



9

 2140 parents educated about the dangers of the online world and how to 
help safeguard their children, through 149 different parent workshops.

 Activities in support of International Safer Internet Day and Safeguarding 
Week

2. 31 Exploitation within Adult Safeguarding 

The Adult Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) in Bradford brings together 
resources from the Police and Adult Social Care, with links to other partners. All 
referrals are assessed against the Care Act criteria and where appropriate referrals 
are signposted to various support services. A review of the MASH is on-going and 
this recognises the work in the Childrens MASH and wider thinking around 
exploitation, but accepting the different legislation, particularly around consent 
within the Adult arena.  

2.32 The Partnership Response to other forms of Exploitation and Vulnerability

2.33 Vulnerable Learners.
Education has increased focus on vulnerable learners over the last 12 months, 
highlighting the need for better understanding of complex and contextual 
safeguarding. A closer working relationship between internal and external partners 
is helping to support early identification and intervention along with better 
awareness of the increased vulnerability in children including those children who 
are looked after, children with SEN, children who are missing education and those 
not in receipt of efficient and suitable full time education. Professionals are 
considering indicators of wider exploitation and have reported that they find the 
newly introduced Continuum of Need an enabling tool to support identification, risk 
assessment and appropriate referral to services for children who may be at risk or 
have experienced any form of exploitation or abuse. 

2.34 Children Missing in Education (CME). During 2018/2019 1339 pupils have been 
referred to the LA as missing from Education. Of these enquiries have established 
the whereabouts of 65% and supported them into education settings or determined 
they have moved out of the district. The demographic of the population of Bradford 
often means that families move both within and out of the district without informing 
school staff of new addresses and contact details.

2.35 The Local Authority will support parents choosing Elective Home Education (EHE) 
where the delivery of education is sufficient and suitable for the age and aptitude of 
children. We recognise the varied approaches to home educating and this being a 
choice for parents to make at any point during a child’s educational career.  The 
number of EHE pupils in Bradford has risen over the last four academic years. At 
January census point between 2015/2016 and 2016/17 there was a 35% increase 
in EHE pupils and a 21% rise between 2016/17 and 2017/18. Overall from January 
2016 – January 2018 EHE registered pupils has risen by 63%. From January 2018 
– January 2019 the percentage increase is 7%. 

2.36 Activity will focus on 

 Launch of a revised referral and enquiry process for Children Missing from 
Education from September 2019

Page 14



10

 Raising awareness of Elective Home Education across the district through multi 
agency training

 Targeted training delivery in respect of vulnerable groups of CME children
 Performance related analysis of timescales for actioning initial enquiries for 

CME referrals and of informal enquiries conducted in respect suitability of 
education provision for EHE pupils

 Maintain robust multi agency links to collect information in respect of 
whereabouts of children in the district including improved links with Boarder 
Control

 Improved data analysis to identify themes and trends
 Data collection and analysis to enable robust action involving the Regional 

Schools Commissioners (RSCs), Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA), 
OFSTED and the DfE if required, should evidence suggest illegal off rolling of 
pupils.

 Initiating school attendance orders where informal enquiries determine the 
education is not suitable or efficient

2.37 Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking
The true scale of Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking in Bradford, like in the rest 
of the country, cannot be accurately quantified; reports from statutory agencies and 
the third- sector reference the fact that, due to the nature of the offences, there is a 
significant under reporting of the issue. Of data recorded between April 2018 and 
March 2019 shows there were 150 recorded offences that have been classified as 
Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking (MSHT) offences within Bradford District; 
this is higher than any other West Yorkshire district. These numbers reflect the 
awareness and understanding by professionals and confidence of victims in 
reporting cases.  

2.38 The Bradford Anti-Trafficking and Modern Slavery Network (ATMSN) is a district 
forum of the regional West Yorkshire ATMSN. The Bradford forum functions as a 
strategic group with an aim to provide a cohesive and co-ordinated approach 
amongst statutory, non-statutory and third sector organisations in combatting 
modern slavery within the Bradford District. As a multi-agency partnership, the 
network seeks to establish a clear and consistent response to potential victims of 
modern slavery through the sharing of intelligence and best practice, facilitating the 
training of staff from front-line agencies, as well as establishing clear lines of 
communication for inter-agency collaboration.

2.39 The group has progressed activity in 3 key areas 

1. Safeguarding the Most Vulnerable People
Training frontline staff - Training is available to all partners and regularly utilised. 
Training is delivered to a wide range of audience, mostly police, local authority and 
third-sector. Further evaluation and provision of the appropriate training is needed. 
Housing - Trafficking victims have little or no statutory access to emergency 
accommodation during intervention processes. There is a city-wide lack of 
emergency accommodation for vulnerable Adults and whilst options are being 
considered, no sustainable response has been identified as yet. 
Victim Care - A common theme among victims is a general fear and mistrust of the 

Page 15



11

police, and/or local authority staff. Local partners have been successful in its 
utilisation of third-sector organisations to address these difficulties, however further 
steps towards a trauma informed care approach would be most effective. 

2. Reducing Crime, Anti-Social Behaviour and Re-Offending
Intelligence - Intelligence submissions in Bradford are relatively low in comparison 
to the level of criminality recorded as modern slavery in the district. 
Operations - A number of successful multi-agency operations have taken place 
within Bradford District.

3. Building Stronger Communities
Community outreach – The Bradford network includes a number of community 
agencies and continues to build links with vulnerable communities. Identification of 
cultural mediators is needed, with a particular need for Vietnamese and Roma 
community workers. The DICE Project continues its work in Thornbury with Roma 
and Eastern European Communities.
Raising awareness – the partnership undertakes regular awareness activities 
through a number of methods, including multi-agency outreach, multi-lingual flyers 
and posters and the creation of film as part of the Real Safeguarding Stories. 
Upcoming is a campaign led by the Cabinet Office, which will seek to tackle labour 
exploitation in West Yorkshire via frontline professionals in the banking, healthcare 
and job centre sectors.

2.40 Harmful Sexual Behaviour
Harmful Sexual Behaviour (HSB) is developmentally inappropriate sexual behaviour 
which is displayed by children and young people and which may be harmful or 
abusive. It can be displayed towards younger children, peers, older children or 
Adults, and is harmful to the children and young people who display it, as well as 
the people it is directed towards. If not recognised and dealt with this can lead to 
more serious sexual abuse. 

2.41 Many Local Authorities have worked in conjunction with the NSPCC in assessing 
and improving the partnership response to HSB. The HSB audit was launched in 
Bradford in October 2018, the results were analysed & disseminated in December 
2018. Over 40 organisations (the education response was a collective response 
representing 25 schools) contributed towards this work. 

2.42 Partners have found value in the learning from this audit and identified a number of 
areas particularly around identifying and understanding HSB, assessment and the 
response to HSB.  The Bradford Partnership are progressing this work through the 
learning and improvement framework.  The Designated Safeguarding Lead training 
for school staff incorporates the learning and supports school staff in their response 
to HSB.

2.43 Serious and Organised Crime (SOC)
Serious and Organised Crime costs the UK economy around £37 billion every year 
and brings misery and suffering to those who become victims. Serious and 
Organised Crime covers a range of crimes including drugs, firearms, child sexual 
exploitation, cybercrime, modern slavery, gangs and county lines.

2.44 The SOC Governance and Silver board continues to build on its partnership 

Page 16



12

strengths.  By developing greater relationships with schools and with the Local 
Authority Education Team, head teachers from some of the priority high schools 
form part of the Board, enable concerns and approaches to disruption and 
intelligence gathering to be shared. Bradford has developed a partnership strategy 
along the recognised 4 P’s – Prevent, Protect, Prepare and Pursue. 

2.45 The District is seeing a downturn in the number of mapped OCG’s against a 
landscape of improving partnership relationships and work. There is a commitment 
to continuing this approach. Partners are continuing to assess and analyse how 
children and vulnerable adults are impacted through organised crime. 

2.46 The Serious and Organised Crime (SOC) Community Coordinator pilot is to reduce 
the impact of SOC on communities, divert those most likely to become SOC 
offenders and protect the most vulnerable members of society from criminal 
exploitation. The project has worked to deliver a whole system approach to tackling 
SOC through activities that involve targeted Prevent interventions, community 
resilience-building and strengthening local partnerships. Since its introduction in 
2018/19 the pilot has brought increased scale, consistency and reach to the 
Government’s response to tackling SOC-related harm and vulnerability at the 
community level and is a key component of the implementation of the 
Government’s 2018 SOC Strategy. 

2.47 The Home Office are citing nationally some of the positive work being done in 
Bradford in conjunction with West Yorkshire Police. Programme Precision is the 
name of a new crackdown involving West Yorkshire Police, local partners and the 
public to work together to tackle serious and organised crime. This strategy sets out 
a common vision and commitment to work together in tackling these threats to 
ensure communities can become safer places to live, work and visit. 

2.48 Partners will need to develop agreements and understanding around the extent of 
children and criminality. Evidence and information suggests that there are children 
in Bradford who are approaching Adulthood and who are criminally active and form 
part of Organised Crime Groups. It is highly likely that these children were exploited 
into this lifestyle at a younger age but currently are making a decision to continue 
committing offences without influence. 

2.49 Previous reports outlined how partners were understanding the impact of OCGs 
and children. This work continues to systematically develop the data to better 
inform the activity required to ensure that the right support and appropriate 
interventions are available to those at risk of exploitation, as per the definition. 
There are currently 94 children flagged at risk of CCE where intelligence indicates 
that they are at risk of exploitation. They have all had the appropriate multi-agency 
referrals made. 

2.50 This work is supported by the recently introduced Exploitation Protocols alongside 
the new Multi-Agency Referral Form which both serve to improve identification of 
risk and response. 

2.51 Intervention work and engagement is extremely challenging and partners continue 
to undertake prevention work in a variety of forms. Appendix F contains details of 
case studies. 

Page 17

https://www.westyorkshire.police.uk/sites/default/files/2019-01/programme_precision_booklet.pdf


13

2.52 Over 150 Designated Safeguarding Leads from schools have had bespoke training 
on SOC to aid information and intelligence gathering. This also highlighted the need 
to recognise exploitation of children and young people in relation to SOC and the 
multi-agency response to this. The Police are working with schools to support a 
programme of education in respect of weapons and violence across both primary 
and secondary schools. 

2.53 Service Provision 

2.54 Children’s Services Child Exploitation Projects Steering Group is the committee 
which oversees the delivery of exploitation and pathways and is responsible for the 
development and delivery of the Breaking the Cycles, Trusted Relationship and 
Family Against Youth Crime Projects. Bradford has developed effective working 
methods through these projects to prevent and engage with young people on the 
edge of criminality and vulnerable to exploitation. Whilst this is in its early stage, 
professionals are seeing the benefits of group and 1-1 work. Appendix F contains 
details of case studies. This group links with Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex 
Safeguarding group to enable coordination of activity against strategic priorities of 
TBP. 

2.55 The Family Against Youth Crime Project
The Family Against Youth Crime Project in Bradford is one of 21 Local Authority 
areas to receive funding through the Troubled Families Programme (Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government) for tackling Youth Crime. 

2.56 This fund has brought together VCS, key/outreach workers, Police, Targeted Early 
Help , schools and a range of professionals to intervene at an early stage and in 
order to help stop young people from becoming drawn into crime, serious violence 
and entering the youth justice system. This locality based model is an extension of 
the existing Voluntary Community Sector (VCS) Families First Partnership contract 
(2018-2020) in Bradford including Barnardo's, Brathay Trust, JAMES, YMCA 
Bradford and now including West Yorkshire Police. The Partnership will deliver a 
coordinated response for 6-13 year olds and their families through a family key 
worker, school transition and outreach model of support.  This programme will sit 
alongside the Early Intervention Youth Fund (EIYF) / Trusted Relationship 
programmes

2.57 The aim of the programme is to develop children’s personal resilience to withstand 
peer pressure and make positive choices, particularly around transition from 
primary to secondary school. This will raise awareness of dangers surrounding 
gangs, youth violence and knife crime and changing the culture around 
acceptability of carrying knives.  At the heart of this programme is work undertaken 
with families to give parents/carers the skills to identify the risks and discuss their 
concerns children.  The offer includes a ‘Think Family’ approach for parents/carers 
using a signs of safety assessment and plan supported by parenting programmes. 
Further details of successful case studies can be found at Appendix F.

2.58 Young Lives Bradford Consortium - Trusted Relationships 
The Consortium received Home Office Funding in September 2018 to deliver a 
targeted intervention of 1 to 1 support to 10-14 year olds up to a period of 6 months, 
to young people at low level risk of Child Exploitation. The five Bradford based 

Page 18



14

providers are Barnardo’s; James – Motor Education Services; e;merge; Project 6- 
Keighley; Bradford YMCA.  The consortium has been awarded 2-year funding of a 4 
year programme. The programme’s target is to reach 100 young people per year 
who are at low Risk of Child Exploitation. The programme’s focus is prevention to 
support Young People’s awareness, resilience, confidence, safety and life skills. 
Since the start of the programme, the Preventative Group Worker has engaged with 
1103 young people through awareness sessions, 272 people through Community 
Awareness Raising activities, 338 staff / partners through training / workshops / 
guidance sessions and visited 49 businesses via outreach visits. 

2.59 Breaking the Cycles 
Breaking the Cycles is a Youth Intervention Project (YIP) in partnership between 
the Council’s Youth Service, the Youth Offending Team and West Yorkshire Police.
The project also works closely with the MASH, PRU providers, Early Help Hubs, 
Leaving and Through Care Services to actively identify and target young people 
who are vulnerable to exploitation, on the fringes of, or who have associations with 
young people linked to Organised Crime Groups (OCG), Urban Street Gangs 
(USG) and those who demonstrate mid / low level Anti-Social Behaviours.  There is 
a close working relationships between the SOC) Community Coordinator and the 
Breaking the Cycles Project. 

2.60 The work of Breaking the Cycles is underpinned by a broad prevention and early 
help services provided in part by the VCS under contract through Trusted 
Relationship Funding and Families Against Crime funding. This is now joining up 
with the different levels of SOC interventions work providing a golden thread and 
more holistic approach towards positive case management at the earliest possible 
stage. The project is beginning to evidence the pathways, feeders and identifiers 
that make young people more vulnerable to participation in SOC, violent crime and 
ASB, and of what interventions work. This is an attempt to reduce some of the flow 
to the Front Door and threshold services. 

2.61 The challenge remains around funding and continuing service provision as well as 
capacity. As awareness of criminal exploitation and the availability of these services 
increase, numbers of referrals will also increase and resource remains limited. 
Intelligence assessments and data collection is at an early stage in understanding 
the numbers and level of criminal exploitation impacting upon children. Partners will 
need to develop effective analytical and performance frameworks to enable 
intelligent deployment of finite resources. 

2.62 Youth Service.
Across all districts in Bradford, the Youth Service continues to offer a broad menu 
of engaging activity delivered from easily accessible locality bases that ensure 
pathways of support to young people that are preventative and offer early 
intervention. The Youth Service works with young people, identifying with them, 
their concerns, working with young people to better understand the consequences 
of their behaviours and of others towards them and to support them to reduce their 
risk. This area of work is often undertaken before young people are engaged in 
specific support services. 

2.63 Buddy support as part of Youth In Mind. Youth Workers receive referrals from the 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS), School Nurses & other 

Page 19



15

professionals, the Youth Workers then act as Buddies to the young people, their 
role is to befriend them, support them over a period of time and navigate them to 
the various support opportunities available to them. 

2.64 The Youth Service continues to provide direct support to young people at risk of 
Child Sexual Exploitation. Youth Workers support the young people referred on a 
1:1 basis and engage them in support opportunities available.  The Youth Service 
currently runs a number of female only provisions and specialist groups all of which 
offer young people a safe space to engage in positive informal educative activities.

2.65 The Youth Service continues to work with Prevention and Early Help and supports 
the area based panels. Through these panels young people are referred to the 
Youth Service and are supported by the area Ward Youth Workers to engage in 
localised youth provisions, Youth in Mind groups and an offer for those who require  
1:1 support. The young people referred have been supported around a number of 
issues including non engagement in education, anger management, family 
breakdowns, Anti Social Behaviour (ASB) and domestic abuse, all of which helps to 
prevent young people from entering the social care system and supports them into 
a positive destination.

2.66 Changing Places and Community Integration. The youth service plays a pivotal role 
in supporting cohesion of young people across the district; Bradford South has 
allocated a link worker to champion the Changing Places programme. This 
innovative programme is focused on young people from new migrant communities 
including those with refugee status. Bradford South runs a very popular session on 
a Wednesday evening with over 10 young people engaging weekly.

2.67 In line with other areas of Council activity affected by the Government’s austerity 
programme, Youth Services are working towards minimising cuts to base budget 
from April 2020 through accessing external funding and operating as a traded 
service. Appendix F contains details of case studies. 

2.68 Training and Communication 

2.69 TBP provides a varied training offer around a number of topics relating to 
exploitation, in a wider variety of formats and partners have also provided specialist 
training. Police teams delivered training to a number of partners to raise awareness 
and understanding of Organised Crime Groups and County Lines and the work of 
the Police Cyber Team continues around on-line safety. 

2.70 The District Communications and Engagement sub-group continues to coordinate 
communications and messaging. Throughout the year activity has included 
networking, messaging and newsletters around topics within this report. The group 
works closely with other groups to share learning and changes to policies and 
procedures. The group has extended its membership and the Bradford 
Safeguarding Partnership Business Team now has a Communication and Project 
officer to facilitate this work. Work continues on the website with a planned launch 
in autumn and this will enable TBP, BSAB and CSP to share guidance and advice 
from one portal. 

2.71 Real Safeguarding Stories is a learning tool dedicated to raising awareness of 

Page 20

http://realsafeguardingstories.com/


16

safeguarding issues. By telling compelling stories based upon real life events, it can 
help professionals from many walks of life understand these complex issues. 
Understanding and relating to these stories is the first step towards individuals and 
organisations being better able to support those at risk. The videos come with 
guidance to support wider training or awareness activity. Bradford continues to 
develop these tools and this year has produced stories around County Lines and 
Modern Day Slavery. As part of Hate Crime Week a bespoke real safeguarding 
story has been developed and will be delivered by a member of the service user 
group.  (https://realsafeguardingstories.com/) 

2.72 GW Theatre
Over the last 5 years GW Theatre has delivered several distinct programmes of 
creative CSE prevention work to children in primary and secondary schools in 
Bradford, working closely with all key agencies and in particular schools. Some of 
this work was funded directly by the Local Authority and some was co-funded by 
WY Police and Crime Commissioner. The impact of this work has been substantial 
and profound. This includes the play Somebody’s Sister, Somebody’s Daughter 
between 2014/6, and Mister Shapeshifter between 2016/8. 

2.73 In January 2019, Bradford hosted the launch of the animated version of Mr 
Shapeshifter. The resource is available online at https://www.mrshapeshifter.com/  
for anyone to use alongside free support materials. It is designed to help teachers, 
parents, community groups and organisations alike to discuss these complex 
issues with children of primary school age.

2.74 The latest project Kidpower is still under development. Last year Bradford worked 
with the company on this project which looks at the same issues with even younger 
children aged 6-8. The company will be commencing research and development of 
ideas and materials which will lead to the creative outputs in the project and this 
involves professionals from Bradford. This will lead to a number of pilot plays. 

2.75 Bradford Safeguarding Adult Board – Voice Group
The Safeguarding Voice Group is a sub group of the SAB made up of Service 
users.  The role of the group is to ensure that voice of service users shape the 
priorities of the SAB and support the SAB in the improvement of services and 
information to safeguard Adults in the District. The group have recently presented at 
the BSAB and delivered training to partner agencies in how to ensure making 
safeguarding personal is embedded in practise This group recently identified a 
need for targeting awareness raising activities on fast food outlets, buses and 
places of work.

2.76 Specialist specific training/learning events featured as part of Safeguarding Week 
that included the Airedale Annual Conference on Complex safeguarding, County 
Lines, Forced Marriage, Cyber Crime, financial abuse with input from the Gambling 
project at Citizens Advice Bureau.

Page 21

https://realsafeguardingstories.com/
https://www.mrshapeshifter.com/


17

2.76 Emerging Themes

2.77 Violence Reduction Units (VRUs).
The Home Secretary announced in April that £35 million of the Serious Violence 
Fund will be invested in Violence Reduction Units (VRUs).  VRUs will lead and co-
ordinate local responses to serious violence, bringing together a range of agencies 
including, health, education, social services and others to develop a multi-agency 
approach to preventing serious violence.  West Yorkshire OPCC and Chief 
Constable (CC have been provisionally awarded £3,370,000 calculated on a tiered 
basis, reflecting levels of serious violence in West Yorkshire based on hospital 
admissions for sharp object assault data.  There are two mandatory products that 
the VRU must deliver in the course of the funding period a problem profile and a 
response strategy. This strategy describes the multi-agency response being 
delivery by the VRU, its members and other partners that will tackle the drivers 
identified in the problem profile and work to reduce serious violence in the area. 

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 There are no other considerations.

4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1 The Bradford Safeguarding Business Partnership Team current has a gross 
expenditure budget of £0.577m of which £0.329m is funded via the Local Authority 
and £0.248m is funded by partners.

4.2 The Bradford Safeguarding Business Partnership Team provides support to the 
Bradford Partnership and Bradford Safeguarding Adults Board. 
In particular the teams coordinate and facilitate safeguarding activity and the 
delivery of strategic priorities and Delivery Plans. This is achieved through

 Coordination of inter-agency working 
 Administration of meetings
 Coordination of Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews and 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews
 Multi-agency audits and challenge 
 Learning and Improvement including multi-agency training
 Performance, information and audit including Section 11 and Section 175. 
 Production and publication of the Annual Reports

Funding for the Team covers staffing costs, multi-agency training and audits and 
reviews.

4.3 The staffing resource for Bradford Safeguarding Business Partnership Team is:
 Manager,  2 x Deputy Managers
 Business Administrators
 Learning and development coordinators
 Performance and information officers
 Communication and Project officer 

Page 22



18

4.4 TBP also has an Independent Chair and Scrutiny Lead and the BSAB has 
continued with an Independent Chair. 

4.5 During the course of the year, partners have made successful funding applications 
to the Community Safety Partnership to enable service provision and events in line 
with exploitation and wider vulnerability.  

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

5.1 The protection of Children and vulnerable Adults is the highest priority for the 
Bradford Council and its partners when considering the implications of exploitation, 
as is the provision of services to support those who are victims of this abuse. 
Failure to protect and provide appropriate services significantly increases the risk to 
Children and vulnerable Adults in the District. It would also lead to significantly 
reduced public confidence in Bradford Council, West Yorkshire Police and other 
partners, as has been demonstrated in some other Districts.

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1 The report has been considered by the office of the City Solicitor and there are no 
identified legal issues to highlight.

7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

Child exploitation is a crime committed by predominantly male perpetrators, though 
not exclusively, from all different racial backgrounds. Victims of exploitation also 
come from all backgrounds and ethnicities. Nevertheless, local experience and 
national research indicates that recognised victims and perpetrators do not 
necessarily reflect the gender ethnicity and other characteristics of the District’s 
population.

7.1.2 Between Aug 2018 – July 2019 the number of male children experiencing or at risk 
of CSE in Bradford District was approximately 20%, this recognises national 
research data that highlights that female children are statistically more likely to be at 
risk of abuse then male children. 

7.1.3 Analysis of cases open to the Hub on March 2018 (see Appendix E) shows that 
64% of open cases were of white British heritage, which is a an increase of 6%, 
while 15% were of Asian heritage, which is an increase of 3% from last year. 

7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

7.2.1 None

7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS
7.3.1 None

Page 23



19

7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

7.4.1 Exploitation of Children and vulnerable Adults is a criminal offence. The 
consequences of exploitation can be long-standing for the victim and there is 
growing research evidence that victims of CSE are themselves over-represented 
among young people coming to the attention of police services as potential 
offenders. In addition, Exploitation has lasting consequences for families of victims 
and perpetrators and has potential implications for community relations.

7.4.2 The Community Safety Partnership (CSP) currently oversees the commissioning of 
funding from the passporting of Police and Crime Commissioner funding against 
key priorities, including CSE and now wider exploitation. Since the last update TBP 
has now been allocated funding to support worthwhile initiatives or service 
provision. The Risk and Vulnerabilities Group will allocate funding and oversight of 
progress. 

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

7.5.1 Sexual and Criminal Exploitation is a violation of the rights of the child/adult under 
the Human Rights Act. The arrangements made by the Council and its partners are 
intended to prevent the rights of the child/adult being violated in this way.

7.6 TRADE UNION

7.6.1 None

7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

7.7.1 It is recommended that each Area Committee receives an update report regarding 
criminal and sexual exploitation in the next 12 months.

7.8 WARD PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.8.1 Protecting Children and Vulnerable Adults at Risk of Exploitation is  a priority in all  
the  Ward Plans in the Shipley Area. 

7.9 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

7.9.1 National and local evidence shows that children who are looked after are more 
likely to become victims of Child Sexual Exploitation than other groups. This means 
that in relation to safeguarding and corporate parenting responsibilities, partners 
have a responsibility to understand the safeguarding risks facing children, and 
especially in relation to Child Sexual Exploitation.

7.10 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

7.10.1 The nature of Sexual and Criminal Exploitation work requires partners to manage 
confidential matters and data under GDPR regulations in accordance with individual 
agency guidelines. There is no sensitive data included in this report that requires a 

Page 24



20

Privacy Impact Assessment.

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

8.1 None

9. OPTIONS

9.1 None

10. RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 The Area Committee is invited to consider the contents of this report and how 
members can support local activity.

10.2 The Area Committee shall receive a further update on the progress of the response 
to exploitation in 12 months time.

10.3 Partners will seek further funding opportunities from Government funding streams 
to enable the continuation of service provision as outlined in this report.

10.4 This report is a call to action for all partners to recognise exploitation in its widest 
sense and continue to provide a coordinated safeguarding response to children and 
vulnerable adults. 

11. APPENDICES

Appendix A - Definitions
Appendix B - Working Together To Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership.
Appendix C - Strategic Response to Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding 
Appendix D - CSE Strategic Response
Appendix E – CSE Missing Data Overview
Appendix F – Case Studies
Appendix G – The work of Keighley Asian Women and Childrens Centre (KAWACC)
Appendix H – Information and Data for Shipley Area

 12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Working Together to Safeguarding Children 2018 - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2 
The Care Act 2014 - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted 
West Yorkshire Police and Crime Plan - https://www.westyorkshire-pcc.gov.uk/our-
business/the-police-crime-plan.aspx 
Serious and Organised Crime Strategy 2018 - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/serious-and-organised-crime-strategy-2018  

West Yorkshire Police Serious and Organised Crime Strategy - 
https://www.westyorkshire.police.uk/precision 

NSPCC Counting Lives Report: responding to children who are criminally exploited -  
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-and-publications/counting-lives-report 

Page 25

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
https://www.westyorkshire-pcc.gov.uk/our-business/the-police-crime-plan.aspx
https://www.westyorkshire-pcc.gov.uk/our-business/the-police-crime-plan.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/serious-and-organised-crime-strategy-2018
https://www.westyorkshire.police.uk/precision
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-and-publications/counting-lives-report


21

Appendix A – Definitions

Child Exploitation occurs where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance 
of power to coerce, control, manipulate or deceive a child or young person under the age 
of 18 in exchange for something the victim needs or wants and/or the financial or other 
advantage of the perpetrator or facilitator and/or through violence or the threat of violence. 
The victim may have been criminally exploited even if the activity appears consensual. 
Child exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur through the 
use of technology.” (Home Office, 2017)
The below nationally agreed definitions will be utilised across Bradford: 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs where an 
individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate or 
deceive a child or young person under the age of 18 into sexual activity
 (a) In exchange for something the victim needs or wants, and/or
 (b) For the financial advantage or increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator. 
The victim may have been sexually exploited even if the sexual activity appears 
consensual. Child Sexual Exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also 
occur through the use of technology. (Home Office 2017) 

Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) occurs where an individual or group takes advantage 
of a person under the age of 18 and may coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or young 
person under that age into any criminal activity 

a) In exchange for something the victim needs or wants, and/or 
b) For the financial advantage or increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator 

and/or 
c) Through violence or the threat of violence. The victim may be exploited even if the 

activity appears consensual (i.e. moving drugs or the proceeds of drugs from one 
place to another). 

Child Criminal Exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur 
through the use of technology.  (Home Office 2018)

County Lines is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks involved 
in exporting illegal drugs into one or more importing areas (within the UK), using dedicated 
mobile phone lines or other form of “deal line”. They are likely to exploit children and 
vulnerable Adults to move (and store) the drugs and money and they will often use 
coercion, intimidation, violence (including sexual violence) and weapons. (Home Office 
2018) 

County Lines is a form of Child Exploitation (CE). It is a major, cross-cutting issue 
involving drugs, violence, gangs, safeguarding, criminal and sexual exploitation, modern 
slavery, and missing persons. The response to tackle it involves the Police, the NCA 
(National Crime Agency) and a wide range of Government departments, local government 
agencies and VCS (voluntary and community sector) organisations. County Lines activity 
and the associated violence, drug dealing and exploitation has a devastating impact on 
children, vulnerable Adults and local communities.

Page 26



22

Home Invasion (sometimes referred to as Cuckooing)
Urban gangs establish a base in the market location, often by taking over the homes of 
local vulnerable Adults by force and/or coercion, in a practice referred to as ‘cuckooing’. 
Urban gangs then use children and vulnerable people to move drugs and money. 

Human Trafficking 
A person commits an offence if the person arranges or facilitates the travel of another 
person to exploit them. It is irrelevant whether the exploited person, Adult or child, 
consents to the travel. A person may, in particular, arrange or facilitate another person’s 
travel by recruiting, transporting or transferring, harbouring or receiving them, or 
transferring or exchanging control over them. ‘Travel’ means arriving in, or entering, any 
country; departing from any country and travelling within any country. A person who is a 
UK national commits an offence under Section 2 regardless of where the arranging or 
facilitating takes place, or where the travel takes place. A person who is not a UK national 
commits an offence under Section 2 if any part of the arranging or facilitating takes place 
in the UK, or the travel consists of arrival in or entry into, departure from, or travel within 
the UK.

In determining whether or not a child is a victim of trafficking, their consent to being 
trafficked is irrelevant and how they are trafficked is also irrelevant. Only the act 
and the purpose need to be present. It is not necessary to prove coercion or any 
other inducement. 

Exploitation alone does not constitute trafficking – there also needs to be recruitment, 
transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of a person. Slavery, servitude and forced or 
compulsory labour is, or may be, a crime in its own right under Section 1 Modern Slavery 
Act 2015.

Harmful Sexual Behaviour (HSB) is developmentally inappropriate sexual behaviour 
which is displayed by children and young people and which may be harmful or abusive 
Harmful sexual behaviour. HSB includes:

 using sexually explicit words and phrases
 inappropriate touching
 using sexual violence or threats
 full penetrative sex with other children or Adults.

Contextual Safeguarding Contextual Safeguarding expands the objectives of child 
protection systems in recognition that young people and vulnerable Adults who are 
vulnerable to abuse in a range of social contexts. This includes sexual exploitation, 
modern day slavery, harmful sexual behaviour, peer on peer violence and abuse including 
gangs and groups, criminal exploitation, and going missing and should not be seen in 
isolation as they often overlap , creating a complex set of harmful circumstances and 
experiences for children, young people, vulnerable Adults, families, carers and 
communities. 

It recognises that the different relationships that young people form in their neighborhoods, 
schools and online can feature violence and abuse. Parents and carers have little 
influence over these contexts, and young people’s experiences of extra-familial abuse can 
undermine parent-child relationships. Contextual Safeguarding, therefore, expands the 

Page 27



23

objectives of child protection systems in recognition that young people and Adults are 
vulnerable to abuse in a range of social contexts.

Organised Crime Groups and Gangs means a group that:
d) Has as its purpose the carrying on of criminal activities, and
e) Consists of three or more persons who act, or agree to act, together to further that 

purpose 

Gang related violence and drug dealing activity is defined as gang related if it occurs in the 
course of, or is otherwise related to, the activities of a group that:

a) Consists of at least three people, and 
b) Has one or more characteristics that enable its members to be identified by others 

as a group. (Serious Crime Act 2015) 

Appendix B - Working Together To Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership.
(Attached PDF)

Page 28



1

Bradford Safeguarding Children Board strategic response to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)

Introduction:
Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCB) has the responsibility for ensuring that relevant organisations in the local 
area co-operate effectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation, 
published in March 2015, set out an ambitious programme of work to address on a national scale some of the 
failures, brought to light by Professor Alexis Jay, Dame Louise Casey and others. 

Within Bradford, partner organisations have decided that Bradford Safeguarding Children Board (BSCB) is the lead 
strategic body for the development and implementation of the District’s response to CSE. BSCB is required to ensure 
that the needs of children and young people who have been, or may be, sexually exploited and their families are 
considered as it:

• Guides the planning and commissioning of services;
• Develops policies and procedures;
• Ensures that appropriate training is in place;
• Communicates and raises awareness; and
• Monitors and evaluates the work that is being done.

This BSCB strategic response sets out the key strands to be addressed in the work to tackle CSE in the Bradford 
District and this document takes into account the progress made in improving the Districts response to CSE in the  9 
Point Strategic Response and previous BSCB “7 Point Strategic Response to CSE” which was agreed in July 2013.
The  overall objective remains that the partnership response to CSE is child, young person and victim 
focused.

These strands describe statutory safeguarding activity to be undertaken by statutory and voluntary sector partners, 

Appendix C - Strategic Response to Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding 

P
age 29



2

awareness raising and training activity, and community initiatives informed by specific knowledge of the incidence of 
CSE in the Bradford District. This Strategic response recognizes the links between children who go missing and CSE 
and takes cognisance of the Bradford Missing Children Multi-Agency Strategy 2016/18. Taken together, the overall 
aims of these strands are:

7. Identify and understand the nature and scale of CSE
8. Prevention, Education and Awareness
9. Safeguarding vulnerable people, groups and communities
10. Effective leadership and governance
11. Disrupt and Prosecute
12. Communication, Engagement and Empowerment  

Definition of CSE from Government Guidance:

Following on from the definition in 2009, the Government has refreshed and produced the following definition in 
February 2017.

“Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse.  It occurs where an individual or group takes advantage of 
an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or young person under the age of 18 into sexual 
activity (a) in exchange for something the victims needs or wants, and/or (b) for the financial advantage or 
increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator.  The victim may have been sexually exploited even if the sexual 
activity appears consensual.  Child sexual exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur 
through the use of technology.”

The plan will focus upon the following groups in all aspects  
 Children and young people
 Communities 
 On-line activity 
 Parents and carers
 Professionals and people involved with children and young people

P
age 30



3

All activity will consider the voice of the child in responding to immediate needs and how the voice of the child is 
used to inform planning and designing of services.

1. Identify and understand the nature and scale of CSE

Bradford is committed to understanding the local threat risk and harm to allow a proportionate and appropriate 
response to CSE. 

 Maintain strategic assessments, problem profiles and develop a joint data set 
 Vulnerable people and groups
 Victims – recognising gender and age
 Locations which can attract vulnerable people and potential perpetrators 
 Methods and types of abuse 
 Perpetrators including tackling unacceptable attitudes and pre offending behaviour
 Linkage to emerging threats –Missing/Modern Day Slavery, Criminal Exploitation  and Organised Crime 

Groups
 Effective information sharing – including ISA

2. Prevention, Education and Awareness 

Bradford is committed to raising awareness of CSE among children and young people, parents, carers and potential 
perpetrators, to prevent incidents / repeat incidents of CSE.

 Working closely with children and young people to understand and response to CSE
 Raising awareness amongst all communities, parents, carers and potential perpetrators
 Training for professionals to enable identification and responding to CSE, recognising the importance of CSE 

work in all phases of schools, colleges and in alternative educational provision.
 Work with the industry sector and night time economy to raise awareness and develop prevention strategies 

P
age 31



4

3. Safeguarding and supporting vulnerable people, groups and communities 

Bradford is committed to safeguarding vulnerable children and young people and supporting victims and those 
professionals who seek to reduce instances of CSE

 Adopting the Journey to Excellence principles
 Support and intervention - timely therapeutic and support services
 Information to advise and access support
 Coordinated services available to work with all groups 

4 Effective leadership and governance

Bradford is committed to providing strong leadership, effective systems whilst working with partners to tackle CSE. 
The BSCB remains open in identifying areas for improvement and to encourage change.

 Effective systems around the  Front Door/ MASH and CSE processes 
 Encourage statutory and non-statutory partners to work together to develop and strengthen our collective 

safeguarding efforts 
 Quality assurance of improved outcomes for children 
 Developing best practice and learning 
 Multi agency training at all levels – initial contact through to specialist services, leadership teams and those 

who are able to influence planning and change  
 Improving outcomes and reducing harm to young people who are vulnerable to or at risk of exploitation and 

victims of exploitation

P
age 32



5

5. Disrupt and Prosecute

Bradford is committed to disrupting, arresting and prosecuting Child Sexual Exploitation offenders, ensuring a victim 
centred approach at all times

 Partnership response
 Collaborative working with law enforcement and criminal justice agencies 
 Proactive response to prevent crimes and harm
 Early interventions for potential perpetrators 
 Support to victims throughout investigations and proceedings 
 Continued partnership response to multi-agency historic investigations into CSE

6. Communication, Engagement and Empowerment  

Bradford is committed to increasing public confidence and awareness and listening to the views of children, young 
people and communities to improve the delivery of services. 

 Coordinate the delivery of the  strategic response to CSE
 Ensure effective internal communications to professionals across the partnership
 Ensure effective external communications to parents, carers and children.
 Maximise on-line and social media opportunities and campaigns   
 Raising awareness and understanding amongst all groups
 Empowering and involving communities to develop community resilience

The BSCB Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Missing Children sub group is responsible for ensuring that this  
Strategic Response is up to date and reflects national and local policy and procedures in respect of CSE. All BSCB 
action and improvement plans related to CSE and all such individual agency plans must be guided by this Strategic 
Response. 

P
age 33



6

Bradford District response to Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding

Introduction:

Bradford continues to recognise opportunities to increase collaboration between Strategic Boards and sub-groups. 
This recognises the emergence of more complex safeguarding matters which are under intense scrutiny through the 
media, inspections, and inquiries and impact across Children’s Safeguarding, the Adult Safeguarding arena and the 
Community Safety Partnership.

In order to proactively safeguard children and vulnerable adults within a wide contextual safeguarding remit, a
shared approach and collective understanding of the issues and experiences children and vulnerable adults is 
required. This approach recognises the broader group of people who do not fall under the criteria as Adults at Risk 
within the Care Act. The BSAB has commissioned work to improve understanding and the response to people who 
may fall within this term.

This strategy recognises that contextual Safeguarding is an approach to understanding, and responding to, young 
people’s experiences of significant harm beyond their families. It recognises that the different relationships that 
young people and vulnerable adults form in their neighbourhoods, schools and online can feature violence and abuse. 
Parents and carers have little influence over these contexts, and young people’s experiences of extra-familial abuse 
can undermine parent-child relationships.

Appendix D - CSE Strategic Response

P
age 34



7

Across the three Boards, there are detailed sub-group structures in place to manage core functions as well Board 
specific objectives. Some of these core functions lend obvious opportunities for a more consistent and collaborative 
approach which takes into account the cross-cutting themes and presents opportunities for shared learning. Bradford 
has developed this thinking with the Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding sub-group. 

In the past Bradford has developed a strategic response to CSE and this strategy seeks to use the experience and 
methodology in developing this strategy.

Taken together, the strategic objectives are:
13. Identify and understand the nature and scale of the themes involved. 
14. Prevention, Education and Awareness
15. Safeguarding vulnerable people, groups and communities
16. Effective leadership and governance
17. Disrupt and Prosecute
18. Communication, Engagement and Empowerment  

Definitions 

The BSCB considered the definition of complex safeguarding and agreed a local definition – 
Behaviour or activity involving C& YP and adults with multiple vulnerabilities where there is exploitation , a risk of 
exploitation and /or a clear or implied  safeguarding concern which is likely to lead to a serious and sustained 
negative impact on Children & Young People

Contextual Safeguarding expands the objectives of child protection systems in recognition that young people and 
vulnerable adults are vulnerable to abuse in a range of social contexts. This includes sexual exploitation, modern day 
slavery, harmful sexual behaviour, peer on peer violence and abuse including gangs and groups, criminal 
exploitation, and going missing and should not be seen in isolation as they often overlap , creating a complex set of 
harmful circumstances and experiences for children, young people, vulnerable adults, families, carers and 
communities.

P
age 35



8

County lines is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks involved in exporting illegal drugs into 
one or more importing areas [within the UK], using dedicated mobile phone lines or other form of ‘deal line’. They 
are likely to exploit children and vulnerable adults to move and store the drugs and money and they will often use 
coercion, intimidation, violence (including sexual violence) and weapons. 

Child criminal exploitation occurs where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, 
control, manipulate
or deceive a child or young person under the age of 18 into any criminal activity:
• in exchange for something the victim needs or wants.
• for the financial or other advantage of the perpetrator or facilitator.
• through violence or the threat of violence.

The victim may have been criminally exploited even if the activity appears consensual. Child criminal exploitation 
does not always involve physical contact, it can also occur through the use of technology. The criminal exploitation of 
children is not confined to county lines but can also include other forms of criminal activity such as theft, acquisitive 
crime, knife crimes and other forms of criminality.

Harmful sexual behavior (HSB) includes:

 using sexually explicit words and phrases
 inappropriate touching
 using sexual violence or threats
 full penetrative sex with other children or adults.

Children and young people who develop HSB harm themselves and others. More information is available here 

Stakeholders
The strategy will include the following groups in all of the strategic objectives   
 Children and young people, particularly those in transitions 
 Vulnerable adults 
 Communities 
 On-line activity 

P
age 36

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-abuse-and-neglect/harmful-sexual-behaviour/


9

 Parents and carers
 Professionals and people involved with children and young people

4. Identify and understand the nature and scale of risk and vulnerabilities
 Development of a vulnerability profile that includes relevant data sets and amalgamates individual profiles 

and assessments, to enable the partnership to utilise the profiles to effectively target resources and 
interventions effectively safeguard children and vulnerable adults. This should be done as part of the
Joint Strategic Needs Assessments that all local authorities are required to produce.

 Develop data and performance measures that provides partners with an understanding of trends and allows 
challenge and scrutiny

 Enhancing the processes for recording flagging or ‘markers’ on service systems, to support effective 
consistent record keeping and information sharing with partner agencies, regarding those who pose a risk of 
harm to children and vulnerable  adults.

 Implementing agreed information sharing pathways to enable effective sharing of early information and 
data between partners, to help collate intelligence and other information about communities, environments, 
perpetrators and victims, in order to support robust interventions for children and families where emerging 
problems are recognised. 

 Identify specific vulnerable people and groups incluidng transitions, homelessness and vulnerable learners

5. Prevention, Education and Awareness 
 Working closely with key stakeholders to understand and respond to a range of risk and vulnerabilities
 Raising awareness amongst all communities, parents, carers and potential perpetrators
 Training for professionals to enable identification, understanding and responding to  range of risk and 

vulnerabilities 

P
age 37



10

 Establish effective working with early years, reducing the number of children beginning school with very low 
levels of development (Links with Keeping Kids Safe1) 

 Make contacts count - There are many points where support for a child or family can reduce the risk of them 
joining a gang. At each of these points there are services tasked with working with these families, and the 
key is ensuring these services are used. (Links with Keeping Kids Safe1)

 Focus upon all schools, colleges and alternative educational provision.
 Inform training and development opportunities that support agencies and practitioners to recognise that 

children can simultaneously be both a victim and perpetrator of exploitation, harm and abuse and therefore 
responses, assessments and interventions must child centred

 Work with the industry sector and night time economy to raise awareness and develop prevention strategies 

6. Safeguarding and supporting vulnerable people, groups and communities 
 Ensuring that robust multi-agency needs led risk management plans are in place that give full consideration 

to vulnerability and need factors, , ensuring that these are strengths-based in approach, coordinated, 
effectively actioned and compliment (where relevant)any statutory
processes

1 Childrens Commissioners Report -Improving safeguarding responses to gang violence and criminal exploitation

P
age 38



11

 Support and intervention - timely therapeutic and support services, particularly recognising the vulnerability 
of young people and adults with mental health needs2. 

 Ensure that there is appropriate information to advise and access support
 Develop effective information sharing to identify and inform gaps in service provision
 Protect vulnerable locations – places where vulnerable young people can be targeted, including pupil referral 

units and residential children’s care homes3

 Focus upon transitional arrangements –ensure appropriate arrangements are in place to support and protect 
children who have been assessed as increasingly vulnerable 

 Recognise and respond to the children and vulnerable adults with multiple vulnerabilities – including mental 
health, alcohol and substance misuse and Domestic Abuse  

5 Effective leadership and governance
 Coordinate the delivery and oversight of this strategic response 
 Ensuring that the local multi-agency response is informed by national / local research and learning and an 

understanding of the wider context of risk and harm
 Effective systems around the  Front Door/ MASH and associated processes for both children and adults

2 Public Health Report - The mental health needs of gang affiliated young people

3 Home Office Report – Ending gang violence and exploitation 

P
age 39



12

 Encourage statutory and non-statutory partners to work together to develop and strengthen our collective 
safeguarding efforts 

 Quality assurance of improved outcomes for children and vulnerable adults 
 Developing best practice and learning 
 Multi agency training at all levels – including specialist and non-specialist practitioners and linking with 

established programmes to widen knowledge of exploitation.  
 Improving outcomes and reducing harm to young people and vulnerable adults who are at risk of 

exploitation and victims of exploitation

7. Disrupt and Prosecute
 Improve intelligence and information sharing and analysis, to assist local disruption plans and the 

prosecution of people and businesses where appropriate
 Making best use of licensing laws, Child Abduction Warning Notices, Sexual Harm Prevention

Orders, Slavery and Trafficking Risk Orders and other relevant legislation available to address
offences to close down premises, deter perpetrators and prevent violence and abuse from
occurring, escalating and /or recurring

 Collaborative working with law enforcement and criminal justice agencies 
 Ensure a proactive response to prevent crimes and harm
 Supporting children and vulnerable adults through all aspects of the criminal justice system

including court processes to improve their experiences and help minimise revictimisation
created by the process/system including the often difficult court process and help achieve
successful prosecutions of those who exploit, harm and abuse. Seek to identify and develop
post CJS support networks and signposting for children, vulnerable adults and their families.

8. Communication, Engagement and Empowerment  

P
age 40



13

 Develop a coordinated programme of information and education for all partners. 
 Developing awareness messages/campaigns about what to look for, and how to report concerns, in order to 

enhance not only the identification of people and places of concern
 Creating public facing campaigns and user friendly materials to effectively signpost children, young people, 

vulnerable adults families and communities to appropriate advice, support and services, to develop 
community resilience to empower and involve communities

 Provide clear and unambiguous deterrent messages to perpetrators including campaigns to reach diverse 
groups

 Ensure effective internal communications to professionals across the partnership
 Maximise on-line and social media opportunities and campaigns   
 Coordinating clear pathways to centrally collate feedback received from children, families and vulnerable 

adults; to enable the reality of children’s and service users  experiences to inform and enhance strategic 
knowledge, through developing and sharing that knowledge.

 Listening to the voice of children and making safeguarding personal for service users to inform thinking and 
future planning. 

P
age 41



1

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
0

50

100

150

200

9-12 Years Old 13-15 Years Old 16-18 Years Old

A G E  G R O U P S  O F  C Y P  W I T H  C S E  F L A G
A U G  1 8  -  J U L  1 9

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
0

100

200

300

400

Female Male

GENDER OF CYP FLAGGED AT RISK OF CSE 
AUG 18 - JUL 2019

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
0

100

200

300

400

High Risk Medium Risk Low Risk

NUMBER OF CYP ASSESSED AS BEING AT RISK OF CSE
AUG 2018 - JUL 2019

Appendix E - CSE & Missing Overview

August 2018 – July 2019

Introduction
The aim of this profile is to provide a robust dataset for children and young people (CYP) at risk of Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) and those that are reported missing in Bradford. It will assist partner agencies to inform strategic 
priorities and decision-making to support the reduction in the number of children and young people at risk of CSE 
and going missing.
Children and Young people (CYP) assessed as being at risk of CSE
The purpose of the following section is to examine the number of children and young people (CYP) assessed as being 
at risk of CSE during the period August 2018 to July 2019.

Graph 1 

Graph 2
Graph 1 

Graph 1  

Graph 3
Graph 1 

Graph 1  

Page 42



2

ETHNICITY Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
Asian/Brit. Asian - Bangladeshi 0 2 3 3 5 5 3 3 3 3 1 1
Asian/Brit. Asian - Indian 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 0
Asian/Brit. Asian - Other 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 2 1 1
Asian/Brit. Asian - Pakistani 36 39 41 44 44 34 28 28 27 25 16 17
Black/Black Brit. - African 1 1 2 2 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 1
Black/Black Brit. - Caribbean 1 1 1 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 2
Gypsy/Roma 10 11 11 10 10 7 7 6 9 8 8 8
Information Not Yet Obtained 23 24 26 26 27 19 15 14 13 10 7 1
Mixed - Other 4 5 5 5 5 5 4 3 3 2 1 1
Mixed - White/Asian 21 21 21 21 20 14 11 11 12 12 9 8
Mixed - White/Black African 0 0 8 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 0
Mixed - White/Black Caribbean 6 7 0 8 7 6 5 4 4 4 5 4
Other Ethnic Group 5 5 5 6 6 5 3 3 2 1 0 0
Traveller of Irish Heritage 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
White - British 181 188 193 201 198 169 136 128 125 112 93 77
White - Eastern European 10 10 10 10 10 9 7 8 6 3 3 1
White - Other 8 7 9 11 10 9 5 4 4 4 2 2

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%

Open referral to CSC Open CIN Plan Open CP Plan Looked After Child

CHILDREN/YP AT RISK OF CSE - CURRENT CSC STATUS
AUG 2018 - JUL 2019

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
0.00%

0.05%

0.10%

0.15%

0.20%

0.25%

0.30%

Bradford East Bradford South Bradford West Shipley Keighley

% OF 0-17 POPULATION AT RISK OF CSE BY CONSTITUENCY IN WHICH THEY LIVE 
AUG 2018 - JULY 2019

Graph 4
Graph 1 

Graph 1  

Graph 5
Graph 1 

Graph 1  

Page 43



3

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

TOTAL NUMBER OF MISSING EPISODES  AUG 2018 - JULY 2019

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
0

50

100

150

200

250

Under 5 years old 6-10 years old 11-15 years old 16 - 18 years old

A G E  O F  M I S P E R  A U G  2 0 1 8  -  J U L Y  2 0 1 9

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
0

50

100

150

200

Female Male Unborn

G E N D E R  O F  M I S P E R  A U G  2 0 1 8  -  J U L Y  2 0 1 9

Children and young people (CYP) with missing episodes recorded on Children Services 
systems

Graph 6
Graph 1 

Graph 1  

Graph 7
Graph 1 

Graph 1  

Graph 8
Graph 1 

Graph 1  

Page 44



4

Ethnicity Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
Asian / British Asian - Bangladeshi 0 2 2 1 0 0 0 1 2 1 4 2
Asian / British Asian - Indian 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 1 2
Asian / British Asian - Other 1 2 7 3 13 15 2 1 3 1 1 1
Asian / British Asian - Pakistani 34 24 14 21 21 16 37 45 34 32 26 30
Black / Black British - African 7 8 6 3 5 3 15 26 19 9 11 4
Black / Black British - Caribbean 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Black/Black British - Other 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gypsy / Roma 2 8 5 4 5 19 2 11 10 9 7 8
Mixed - Other 7 9 5 1 0 2 3 5 2 2 6 5
Mixed - White / Asian 23 21 23 9 11 14 18 25 29 35 33 20
Mixed - White / Black African 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 1
Mixed - White / Black Caribbean 11 15 9 7 9 5 6 15 11 6 16 14
Other Ethnic Group 1 1 4 2 1 1 1 2 1 0 3 2
Traveller of Irish Heritage 0 0 2 0 2 1 0 3 2 3 0 5
White - British 101 124 153 200 204 159 124 172 132 132 153 152
White - Eastern European 2 1 3 5 2 6 4 3 3 4 2 11
White - Irish 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 2 0 0 1
White - Other 5 19 16 9 3 4 2 4 1 7 4 6
Information Not Yet Obtained 35 60 47 39 31 26 48 51 23 26 44 35

24
%

16
%

11
%

18
% 22

%

19
% 27

%

20
%

16
%

12
%

10
%

7%9% 7% 5% 8% 13
%

13
%

7% 8% 10
%

17
%

9% 6%13
%

16
%

16
%

11
%

12
%

8% 8% 8% 5% 6% 4% 3%

54
% 61

% 67
%

63
%

52
% 61

%

59
% 65

% 69
%

66
% 77

% 84
%

A UG - 1
8

S E P - 1
8

OCT - 1
8

NOV - 1
8

DEC - 1
8

J A
N - 1

9

F EB - 1
9

M
AR - 1

9

APR - 1
9

M
AY - 1

9

JU
N - 1

9

JU
L - 1

9

High Medium Low No Risk Flag

LEVEL OF CSE RISK AT TIME OF MISSING EPISODE

49
%

51
%

53
%

49
% 60

%

57
%

44
% 49

%

48
% 51
%

51
% 54
%

41
%

30
%

29
% 38

%

34
% 37
% 43

%

41
% 49

%

44
%

42
%

41
%

10
%

19
%

18
%

13
%

6% 6%

13
%

9%

3% 5% 6% 5%

A U G -
1 8

S E P -
1 8

O C T -
1 8

N O V -
1 8

D E C -
1 8

J A N -
1 9

F E B -
1 9

M A R -
1 9

A P R -
1 9

M A Y -
1 9

J U N -
1 9

J U L -
1 9

Not Looked After Currently Looked After Currently Looked After by another LA

C S C  S T A T U S  O F  C Y P  A T  T I M E  O F  M I S S I N G  E P I S O D E  A U G  2 0 1 8  -  J U L Y  
2 0 1 9

Graph 9
Graph 1 

Graph 1  

Graph 10
Graph 1 

Graph 1  

Page 45



5

Appendix F – Case Studies
Serious and Organised Crime 
Community Cougars Foundation (CCF)  – 5 schools across the district:
UAK; Holy Family and Oakbank – Keighley
Laisterdyke Academy and Carlton Bolling – Bradford East.
Work last year focussed on Tong School.

The CCF Inspiring Others Project uses sport as a means to break down barriers and open 
up communication for 100 young people per school taking part in this programme.  The 
delivery model is through an hour of rugby followed by an hour of work on one of 5 key 
topic areas (County Lines; ASB; Grooming; Modern Day Slavery and Cyber Crime).

BD3 United – a collaborative approach in Bradford Moor – 
In year 1, the work in Bradford Moor was limited and delivered largely by Crime Stoppers 
as part of an awareness campaign.

A different approach was taken in year 2.  This involved inviting together a number of key 
local representatives of organisations delivering within Bradford Moor – delivering the 
vision of tacking SOC together and promoting discussion on opportunities.  As a result of 
this, 4 organisations came together on a project which utilises respected local youth 
workers from the community that are able to target and engage with the young people 
engaged with or at risk from SOC and then divert them into available interventions which 
include sports provisions, a community garden and a youth club.  A number of family 
events have been hosted at the Laisterdyke centre to take a whole family approach to 
tackling SOC.

Real benefits are being seen both in young people who are being stepped away from 
SOC, but also in the trust and confidence building of the community.  Organisations are 
now speaking to each other, sharing information and taking a collective approach.  A 
neighbourhood watch scheme is now established and a local facebook group has 
residents speaking up about local issues that concern them.

Holme Wood  - 4 local organisations have been funded to deliver work in Holme Wood.  
E:merge; The Valley Project; All Star Youth Entertainment and Outloud Ltd.
When work was initially commissioned, each project intended to work solo to deliver their 
planned work however, following similar thinking to Bradford Moor in terms of a co-
ordinated approach, and in conjunction with the area co-ordinators office, a collaborative 
project over the summer was developed titled Holme Wood Moving Up.
This project targeted a cohort of 34 young people, identified by primary schools and 
through local youth worker knowledge, of being at risk of SOC.  This cohort were 
predominantly of an age that they were transitioning from primary to secondary school.
A daily program of activities was offered throughout the summer holidays.  By the end of 
the holidays there were 20 young people consistently attending daily.  These young 
people will continue to be supported throughout the year.

Trusted Relationship Group Work 
Innovative area-based youth work response to prevent young people aged 10-14 
becoming involved in exploitation through CSE, criminal exploitation and gangs has taken 
place in Bradford East.

Page 46



6

Since the start of the programme to the end of Q2 the Preventative Group Worker has 
engaged with 1103 young people through awareness sessions, 272 people through 
Community Awareness Raising activities, 338 staff / partners through training / workshops 
/ guidance sessions and visited 49 businesses via outreach visits. 

The rise in engagement with young people at one school can mainly be attributed to the 
delivery of assemblies to all year groups. The assemblies focussed on the theme ‘staying 
safe over summer’ exploring ‘risk’ and how we all develop knowledge/skills as we grow 
(particularly with support from those around us) to understand and manage the wide 
variety of risks we may come across as we grow.  The assemblies introduced ‘exploitation’ 
and ‘grooming’ as new risk to think about, top tips for staying safe and information on how 
to seek guidance and support from trusted adults and services. 

Feedback gained at the start of the assemblies highlighted that fewer than 20 of the 824 
young people could describe what the words ‘exploitation’ and ‘grooming’ meant  but by 
the end all young people reported a clearer understanding and could think of ways to help 
them stay safe both off and online.  

Feedback from a young person participating in an 8 week targeted group work 
programme:
“I’ve enjoyed everything, I couldn’t pick one thing it was all hilarious and amazing and I’ve 
learnt so much, it has been the best experience. Thank you”.  

Breaking the Cycles/ Youth services 
One of the young people referred to the Breaking the Cycle Project was being exploited by 
a criminal gang and had become heavily used to sell class A drugs. The young person 
was being exploited by the gang and used in both the local area and in a neighbouring 
county. In addition to being exploited themself, the young person had also started to be 
forced into exploiting some of their own peers.

Intensive work was undertaken with this young person and over time a positive 
relationship was built that enabled the young person to understand more about 
exploitation, criminal grooming and county lines. 

Through a sustained and consistent approach the young person was encouraged to take 
up boxing as a relief to get rid of the stress they were experiencing and they now attend a 
boxing gym three times a week. This has enabled the young person to meet the worker in 
a safe space and they have increasing became surrounded by positive role models. 

Over the course of the last few months we have been able to develop a better 
understanding about some of the factors that led to the young person being exploited. 
Although the young person does not want to use these as an excuse they have been able 
to reflect on how losing a parent to suicide made them feel isolated and this lead to 
hanging out with the wrong ‘friends’ and constantly getting arrested. They young person 
described this as things just getting out of control and getting deeper and deeper and 
feeling trapped. 

We continue to work with this young person who has now started a construction course. 
The young person’s parent reports seeing a massive changes in their child‘s behaviour 
and believes this is down to the relationship that they built with the worker form the project.

Page 47



7

Appendix G – The work of Keighley Asian Women and Childrens 
Centre (KAWACC) 

Purpose of the report 

KAWACC has worked in partnership with United Keighley working group, constituting 
multiagency of local organisations based in Keighley. The group has established a safe 
space to co ordinate regular meetings, discussing issues relating to CSE, and raising 
awareness in and around Keighley and Bradford. 

The group constitutes a range of agencies that have a keen interest in supporting work 
associated with CSE. These have included The 
Bradford Partnership (previously the BSCB) , West Yorkshire Police, Social Care, Early 
Help, Community Workers, Local Councillors, local organisations, Faith Institutes and local 
primary and secondary Schools. The admin support has been offered by the Area Co- 
coordinator (BMDC) office. This forum provides a wider context and perspective for 
professional working in this area. There is also a strategic plan that draws the work up 
together joining up thinking and working.

How has this been done?

The group was formed together under the Racial Justice Network, funded by Joseph 
Rountree Charitable Trust, and hosted by CABAD. Due to media attention surrounding 
CSE cases, public perception in regards to this taboo subject brought negativity within the 
Keighley community, causing segregation due to the sensitivity of culture and faith.

To counter this problem a statement was prepared by Reverent Pritchard of Shared 
Churches, who worked very closely with the network. The United Keighley statement is a 
clear and unequivocal condemnation of grooming. It also invited the people of Keighley to 
commit to addressing grooming together. It was based on an earlier letter signed by the 
local MP, Councillors from across the political and ethnic spectrum, churches and 
mosques and other community organisations. It also deliberately deracinated the issue.  
All organisations were invited to join as a working group to counter CSE in Keighley. A lot 
of time, and hard work was put together by the group all done on a voluntary basis. There 
was a rise in awareness raising events within Keighley. There were banners provided by 
the church stating ‘All young people matter’ teal ribbons were made by women from 
diverse backgrounds and distributed in the community to promote CSE awareness. This 
work was a collective contribution from people from all walks of life.
 
Muslim Women’s Council and KAWACC in conjunction with TBP delivered the FRAGILE 
project in Partnership across the Bradford District in Secondary Schools and faith institutes 
(mosques/ madrassas). The project facilitated discussions to men and young boys of 
Pakistani ethnicity in and around Bradford, including Keighley. The project utilised a values 
based approach to creating awareness around CSE, creating safe spaces to unpack 
values we live by, unpack cultural, faith and traditional nuances that impact how we form 
values and how these values then translate into how we parent, choices we make and 
how we live our lives. This preventative approach was  comprehensive and has allowed 
seeds of CSE prevention to be implanted in both young men of Pakistani ethnicity and at 
the centre of traditional Asian families.

Page 48



8

 
KAWACC has been leading the e5 project with three other partners CABAD, ICLS and 
JAMES to deliver preventative work with women and young women across Keighley who 
are at risk of CSE and violence against them. The project has been delivered across 
Keighley in primary and secondary schools, Community Organization and faith institutes 
for over 3 years and we are in our last year of this project. This project has enabled us to 
engage with women and young girls through direct and indirect work to develop their 
confidence, self -esteem, self-worth and assertiveness through a  range of activity 
sessions and workshops that have been  designed to equip them with the  knowledge, 
tools and support needed to reach their full potential. This project  has  provided a 
gateway to access marginalised girls, who may not necessarily be engaged in mainstream 
services but who are lacking in self-esteem and are at particular risk of sexual exploitation, 
grooming and domestic abuse.

KAWACC has also worked in partnership with Barnardo’s to develop the DICE Parenting 
Programme for all parents of pre-teens and teenagers. The programme aims to raise 
awareness about the risks children face growing up in a modern digital world and provide 
practical parenting support ideas.

The programme is 4 weeks long and covers topics about the life of a teenager; exploitation 
and grooming; digital dangers; parenting top tips and support services. We have delivered 
this programme at Ingrow Primary, Victoria Primary, Good Sheppard Centre and 
KAWACC. This programme has trained a number of professionals to deliver DICE in their 
communities and organisations. The programme has been developed to make it more 
culturally appropriate for people from diverse backgrounds to have a better understanding.

For the last two years the United Keighley Working Group has organised a day conference 
and coordinated activities for CSE awareness week. This year it focused on providing local 
schools with resources that would help them engage more effectively. It was based on the 
premise that schools are the most effective way to reach children at risk of, or are being 
sexually exploited: all children in Keighley go to school - apart from the home educated. 
The conference encouraged ‘school leads’ to see their own work in a wider perspective.  

At the same time the working group worked alongside community organisations to see 
how they might mark CSE awareness in terms of their own rationale. For instance, the 
main town Centre Church (Keighley Shared Church) organised an evening service 
reflecting and praying about CSE, whilst two mosques had meetings following on from 
Friday Prayer. The United Keighley statement was translated into Urdu/Bengali by 
KAWACC to enable the audiences’ to have a clear understanding of the message.

The working group continues to meet. The challenge continues to be great. And together 
we continue to make a difference in Keighley. 

Recommendations

 Have a clear bespoke  message of what you want the community to buy into
 Work very closely with your grass root organisations as they know their community 

better
 Strengthen your relationship with the community faith groups and be more visible 
 Work closely with the schools and safeguarding staff and improve communication 

channels. 

Page 49



9

 Use the schools and community organisations to engage at a grass root level
 Establish community ambassadors 
 Set up local groups to disseminate information into communities
 Provide continuance support to organisations through networking training and 

events.
 Strengthen links with  MP’s and local Councillors
 Empower local business to be the people to voice your message ( especially 

barbers) 
 Invite local communities at events and awareness sessions. 
 More visible  signs and images in and around community spaces about CSE
 More Intensive work between the Police, Council and the community to build trust 

and resilience.
 More awareness events in and around the city regularly

 

Page 50



10

Appendix H – Information and Data for Shipley Area

Page 51



11

BAILDON

Page 52



12

BINGLEY

Page 53



13

BINGLEY RURAL

Page 54



14

SHIPLEY

Page 55



15

WHARFEDALE

Page 56



16

WINDHILL AND WROSE

Page 57



17

WARD COMPARISON

Page 58



18

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Shipley Neighbourhood Policing Team to 
the meeting of Shipley Area Committee to be held on 11 
March 2020

Subject:  Z
Shipley Area Neighbourhood Policing Team activity to address the “Safer 
Communities” priorities within the Shipley Constituency Ward Plans for 2017-2019

Summary statement:

This report gives an update of some of the work undertaken by the Shipley Area 
Neighbourhood Policing Team and an overview of the Shipley Constituency 
Performance data.

Steve Hartley
Strategic Director of Place

Portfolio:  

Neighbourhoods and Community Safety

Report Contact:  Damian Fisher
Phone: (01274) 437062
E-mail: damian.fisher@bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Corporate

Page 61

Agenda Item 9/



2

1. SUMMARY

1.1 This report gives an update of some of the work undertaken by the Shipley Area 
Neighbourhood Policing Team and an overview of the Shipley Constituency 
Performance data.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Appendix A gives an overview of the Shipley Area between 1 January  and 31 
December 2019 and gives a comparison with the same period in the previous year.

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 There are now named Police and Council Ward Officers aligned to Wards across 
the Area who are supported by designated staff with allocation to specific areas.  
The boundaries are co-terminus and therefore enable effective co-ordination, 
tasking and problem solving.   

3.2 Shipley Neighbourhood Policing Team works closely with the Shipley Area Office 
including a number of joint community initiatives including school gate parking days 
of action, crimestoppers, partnership meetings and specific multi agency problem 
solving across the constituency. 

4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1 Not applicable.

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

5.1 No significant risks.

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1 There are no known legal implications.

7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

7.1.1 The information in the report seeks to address emerging crime and community 
safety priorities across all communities within the Area.

7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

7.2.1 The involvement of a wide range of partners in working together to address 
community safety and crime issues contributes to finding sustainable solutions.

7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

7.3.1 No impacts.

Page 62



3

7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

7.4.1 All the work identified within this report contributes to improving community safety.

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

7.5.1 No specific implications.

7.6 TRADE UNION

7.6.1 None.

7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

7.7.1 The information provided in this report is relevant to all Wards within the Shipley 
Area.

7.8 WARD PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.8.1 The actions contained within this report impact on all the priorities within the Safer 
Communities theme in all Ward Plans.

7.9 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

7.9.1 None.

7.10 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

7.10.1 There may be a need for partner agencies to share data however this would only be 
with the express permission of the service user in the full knowledge of why and 
what it would used for. General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) principles 
relating to any individuals data and rights under the Data Protection Act 2018 will be 
respected..

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

8.1 None.

9. OPTIONS

9.1 This report is presented primarily for information.

10. RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 That Shipley Area Committee notes the work undertaken by the Shipley Area 
Neighbourhood Policing Team from 1 January  and 31 December 2019 that 
contributed to addressing priorities within the ward plans for the Shipley Area.

10.2 That the Shipley Area Committee notes the positive partnership working that has 

Page 63



4

been established with Elected Members, Council Officers, community 
organisations, volunteers and residents within the Shipley Area.

11. APPENDICES

11.1 Appendix A – Shipley Performance Data – 1 January  and 31 December 2019.

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

12.1 Report of the Shipley Neighbourhood Police Inspector to Shipley Area Committee, 
Document AH, Shipley Neighbourhood Policing Team activity to address the ‘Safer 
Communities’ priorities within the Shipley Constituency Ward Plans for 2016/17, 15 
February 2017.

12.2 Report of the Shipley Area Co-ordinator to Shipley Area Committee, Document M, 
Shipley Area Neighbourhood Policing Team activity to address the ‘Safer 
Communities’ priorities within the Shipley Constituency Ward Plans for 2016/18, 11 
October 2017.

12.3 Report of the Shipley Area Co-ordinator to Shipley Area Committee, Document V, 
Shipley Area Neighbourhood Policing Team activity to address the ‘Safer 
Communities’ priorities within the Shipley Constituency Ward Plans for 1 February 
2018 to 31 January 2019

Page 64



5

APPENDIX A
SHIPLEY

 Baildon

 Bingley

 Bingley Rural

 Shipley

 Wharfedale

 Windhill & Wrose

 

CRIME FIGURES
The following data highlights figures for all crimes in Shipley between 01/01/19 and 31/12/19. This 
is compared to the same period during the previous year.

Page 65



6

This is broken down into certain different crime types as below along with an increase and 
decrease figure for each:

Crime Type 2018 2019 Difference
Burglary - business and community 217 207 10

Burglary - residential 1000 868 132
Criminal damage 849 850 1

Robbery 67 78 11
Shoplifting 447 365 82

Theft from motor vehicle 546 440 106
Theft of motor vehicle 180 177 3

Homicide 1 0 1
Violence with injury 747 749 2

Violence without injury 2038 2363 325
Grand Total 8728 8659 69

ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

ASB (calls for service)
The below chart shows the total number of calls for service for ASB related issues for the 12 
month period. This also includes those that were classified as ‘nuisance’. 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

220

2018

2019

Linear (2019)

ASB Calls for Service, Shipley NPT

Month

To
ta

l

Page 66



7

The graph shows that there was variation in the number of calls at the beginning of each year, 
however, towards the end of the year, reductions were seen in both 2018 and 2019.  The red 
dotted line is a trend line based upon 2019’s figures and shows there is an increasing trend.

HATE CRIME 

The below graph shows the trend of both hate crimes and incidents reported over the 12 month 
period across Shipley.  The data has been extracted from Corvus and includes, Race Hate 
Crimes, Faith Hate Crimes, Disability Hate Crimes and Sexual Orientation Hate Crimes.

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2018

2019

Linear (2019)

Hate Crimes and Incidents, Shipley NPT

Month

To
ta

l

The red dotted line is a trend line based upon 2019’s figures and shows there is an increasing 
trend.  When 2019 is compared with 2018, the largest increases were in the number of Hate 
Incident – Race and Hate Crime – Race.

Police Report 
I have now been in post as your Shipley Neighbourhood Team Inspector for a year now. I have 
thoroughly enjoyed the work we have achieved with the community and partners. I have to say 
however that this has been a steep learning curve.

We have suffered over the last year as a team carrying three PC vacancies at some points. This 
has been a third of our total PC strength which has proved testing. Thankfully we are now back at 

Page 67



8

full strength and able to continue to work to the best of our ability to tackle the issues that matter to 
our communities.
Due to the challenges we have faced and the challenges that Policing within the entire Bradford 
district has faced I took the decision to re-align staff and ward responsibility to more effectively 
deal with the local issues. Square pegs in square holes. We have also been fortunate, that 
although we lost the services of Sergeant Andy Thornton we gained the experience and 
enthusiasm of Sergeant Phil Hudson, Phil has taken on Shipley and Wharfedale wards and is 
relishing the challenge.

We have continued to work with partners to tackle the local issues, such as Anti Social Behaviour, 
Speeding and Anti Social vehicle use, drugs and acquisitive crime. The latter we have strived to 
arrest and bring to justice the offenders, preventing further offences and further victims. We have 
been ‘inventive’ in our approach to this particular issue working with varying partners, probation, 
courts, drugs workers and our internal Police partners to achieve the most effective resolution.
We as a ward have the most Neighbourhood Watch Schemes in the entire district, this is 
something I am extremely proud of and thank those volunteers for their dedication and fabulous 
efforts. My team are working with the current co-ordinators to recruit more members in areas we 
have lower numbers. In addition the new Community Alert system has been launched this year, 
and again I am proud to inform you that Shipley ward has the highest subscription numbers of the 
district. We are still learning the new system, however the intention of the reports we send out is 
that they are local, personal and relevant to you. We are also the lead area in relation to social 
media updates and information, we get some really positive and enthusiastic feedback through our 
social media outlets. Again striving to keep it local, personal and relevant.

Total recorded crime is slightly down on last year, however we have recently seen an increase in 
demand around burglary and vehicle crime. I am aware the total figures for the previous twelve 
months is down but we can always strive to get it lower. Part of the reason for the numbers is our 
ethical crime recording. By way of example a householder reports to Police that they have seen 
someone through their ‘Ring’ doorbell and approach the door, bending as if to try the handle. 
Previously this would not have been logged, and it is still not logged in some other Police forces. 
However we record these reports as attempt burglaries, this enables us to build a clear picture and 
to be honest with ourselves as well as you our community with the real issues. We have attacked 
this increase by promoting crime reduction advice through social media, pro-actively highlighting 
homes that are making themselves targets through lack of prevention techniques. Leaving 
personal notes and giving advice at the time on making the most of simple things that can be done 
to dissuade potential offenders. We have also targeted the offenders and achieved some great 
results, we arrested several suspects put them before the courts. We have worked with youth 
offending team, probation and the courts to get the sentences the crimes warrant. Sometimes to 
be frank we are frustrated and disappointed by the CPS and Courts decisions but that doesn’t stop 
us!
We are still looking at varying different strands and methods to reduce this crime type and to bring 
the offenders to justice. We will be looking for funding streams for more modern crime reduction 
initiatives to try to offer our community the best possible technology to protect their homes and 
property.
Vehicle crime is another issue, however the evidence we have found is that often times vehicles 
are left insecure. People thinking that they have locked the car through the automated systems but 
not double checking. We would urge all drivers to check that their vehicle is locked securely when 
parking up. Again we have taken a pro active approach and on our patrols we have been trying 
door handles and informing people that they have left their car or van insecure.

Robbery report figures have also increased, again this is in part due to ethical recording practices 
and some brazen offences. The most recent being the abhorrent attack on a lone vulnerable 
female in Shipley Town Centre. Thanks to excellent local knowledge of our own PCSOs and the 
quick thinking of their colleagues, a suspect was identified, arrested, charged and remanded to a 

Page 68



9

young offenders institute by the courts.

Violent crime without injury, again this rise is down to our integrity, a social media threat reported 
to the Police is a violent crime without injury. As you can imagine we get calls regarding this issue 
and in line with  national guidelines and our own Force policy these must be recorded as such. 
However the Businsess Watch is exploring the potential that Public houses in Shipley join their 
group, as well as this we have the Bingley Pubwatch. We recently ran an operation on overtime in 
Bingley to reduce the violent crime and reassure the revellers using the updated and invigorated 
facilities that Bingley has to offer. This was well received and the spikes we have seen previously 
over the festive period did not occur. However we have only held fast on the overall figure to date.

Hate crime has seen an increase, this is in part linked to one caller who was persistent in their 
calls reporting hate crime. They have since been rehoused and the issues they suffered have 
thankfully stopped. I also feel that the increase follows a national trend and shows more 
confidence in reporting this kind of incident to the Police.

Baildon Ward
We have concentrated on the two local priorities, being speeding and burglary/vehicle crime. ASB 
has not been as big a factor as seen previously in the area.
Speeding we have worked with the community utilising Speed Indication Device (SID). We have 
also trained our officers in the use of the handheld speed detection cameras, SID being a warning 
device, the latter leading to enforcement.
The burglary initiative is as I have previously stated, the figures are no higher than previously but 
the community is rightly concerned and we are working tirelessly to address these concerns.

Bingley Ward
Again the issues are directly linked the local ward priorities.
Street drug deals in and around Myrtle Park, there has been some interesting stop and searches 
conducted recently which have caused us to change tactics. The vehicles reported as dealing are 
actually customers. We have now credible intelligence that there is a group coming from outside 
the area to ply their trade locally to us. We are working with officers form our neighbouring policing 
team in a joint effort to make a major impact on this issue.
The ASB in Bingley Town centre, specifically around 5 Rise Shopping Centre, calls for our service 
decreased over the summer period as we had identified and made progress with some of the main 
protagonists. However recently it has ramped up again, we are looking at a fresh approach and 
different longer term solutions to stop the issues from re-occurring again.
Burglary is also a local concern and as previously stated we are working strategically to prevent 
offences and pursue the offenders.

Bingley Rural Ward
Anti social use of vehicles, we have worked on several Operation Steerside events in this area. 
We have looked at speeding and other issues around the use of motor vehicles. Lee Lane has 
suffered with speeding, anti social driving and fly tipping. The council are looking to install CCTV re 
the fly tipping that will also have an impact on the related offences. This forms part of our patrol 
plans.
Sadly with the tragic accident near Cottingley we have formed a new partnership with the schools, 
highways department and Op Steerside. As a group we are looking at varying long term solutions, 
in the short term we are hoping to utilise the recently approved PSPO (Public Spaces Protection 
Order) to enforce and embed our stance on the anti social use of vehicles.

Shipley Ward
We have re-invigorated the Shipley Business Watch, as a group we are looking  to include the 
local Public Houses, this is two fold. For the pubs to have the link radios to work together as a 
group and also for the shops to link with the pubs when recent thefts have taken place to better 

Page 69



10

widen the web in efforts to identify and capture offenders. They are also looking at the possibility of 
linking with Saltaire, we have found that the successes we have achieved in Shipley has moved 
the issues to Saltaire and Salts Mill complex.

Wharfedale Ward
Burglary again is a local concern, the methods are as I have stated earlier in the report. As well as 
this we have also worked with Leeds District and our force roads policing unit regarding travelling 
‘cross border’ offenders using the rural routes to evade ANPR cameras to attack properties in the 
more affluent areas.
ASB and street dealing is also local priority, we have just added PC Steph Smith to our team with 
specific responsibility for Wharfedale Ward and she is keen to have a positive impact on this 
recurring issue.

Windhill and Wrose Ward
We have seen some new faces ‘coming through the ranks’. They have shown a lack of respect for 
their neighbours, their community and the authorities. This has been tackled using positive policing 
methods. If we have been lacking evidence for some of the more serious reports they have been 
dealt with positively for the lesser offences that would have been finalised with out of court 
disposals in different circumstances. We have had some positive impact within the organised 
crime groups, whilst they are still present we have taken the gains and been successful in our 
efforts to disrupt and slow down/halt their activities. Operation Steerside has again been active in 
the locality.

In summary I am really proud of the achievements the team continue to make on behalf of our 
community. The commitment, enthusiasm and regard my officers hold your community in is 
unbelievable. They all to a person look forward to coming to work to make a difference and to 
make the community a safer better place to live and visit.

We have attended community meetings and given inputs to groups. I have made efforts to ‘do the 
rounds’ myself to meet as many partners and community members as possible. I am still attending 
as many meetings as I can where it is viable.

We have also recently formed a Police Cadets group, the leader is one of my Constables, who on 
top of his fulltime position is volunteering to run the group of 20 young adults and the other 
volunteers in their own time. Just one simple example of the dedication of the team.

I thank you for the support you have shown me and my team since my appointment last April, I am 
still learning and open to ideas and advice. Your neighbourhood team and I will continue to strive 
to provide the best service we can to you our community.

Page 70



Report of the Shipley Area Co-ordinator to the meeting 
of Shipley Area Committee to be held on 11th March 
2020

Subject:  AA
Community Chest Grants 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 

Summary statement:

This report summarises the Community Chest Grants awarded in the financial year April 
2019 to March 2020 for the benefit of communities within the Shipley Constituency.

Steve Hartley
Strategic Director of Place

Portfolio:  

Neighbourhoods and Community Safety

Report Contact:  Damian Fisher
Phone: (01274) 437062
E-mail: damian.fisher@bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Corporate

Page 71

Agenda Item 10/



1

1. SUMMARY

1.1 This report summarises the Community Chest Grants awarded in the financial year 
April 2019 to March 2020 for the benefit of communities within the Shipley 
Constituency.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The Community Chest budget is intended to assist community based, leisure and 
cultural activities.  Applications which meet with the criteria are considered from 
groups, organisations and individuals contributing across a broad spectrum of 
initiatives, to the well being and development of communities within the Shipley 
Constituency.

2.3 Details of the Community Chest grants awarded in 2019/20 are outlined in 
Appendix A.

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 None.

4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1 The Community Chest budget for the Shipley Constituency for the financial year 
April 2019 to March 2020 was £11,500. 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

5.1 There are no issues.

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1 There are no issues.

7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

7.1.1 Community Chest grants are available to all communities within Shipley.

7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

7.2.1 Community Chest grants enable community groups to become more sustainable eg 
start up grants.

7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

7.3.1 There are no issues.

Page 72



2

7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

7.4.1 There are no specific community safety implications.

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

7.5.1 There are no implications.

7.6 TRADE UNION

7.6.1 There are no implications.

7.7 WARD PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.7.1 Community Chest grants address priorities within all the Shipley ward plans.

7.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

7.8.1 There are no implications.

7.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

7.9.1 There are no issues.

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

8.1 None.

9. OPTIONS

9.1 None.

10. RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 That the wide range of groups, organisations and individuals across the Shipley 
Area which have benefited from receiving a Community Chest grant be noted and 
welcomed.

10.2 That the Grants Advisory Group is thanked for their work in allocating Community 
Chest grants.

11. APPENDICES

11.1 Appendix A: Summary of Community Chest Grants Awarded 2019-20.

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

12.1 None.

Page 73



3

APPENDIX A

COMMUNITY CHEST GRANTS 2019-20

ORGANISATION WHAT THE GRANT WAS USED FOR AMOUNT £
Burley-in-Wharfedale Cricket Club Cricket nets 350.00
Adopters Helping Adopters Start up grant 280.00
Micklethwaite Village Society Marquee 350.00
3rd Baildon Guides Tents and ground sheets 350.00
Eldwick Scout and Guide Hut Parents Assoc Electrical works 350.00
The Friends of Prince of Wales Park Picnic benches 350.00
Cullingworth Garden Club Bushes and shrubs 334.00
Denholme A Team Toys and equipment 326.91
Burley-in-Wharfedale Community Trust Equipment for youth club 350.00
Friends of St Ives Bird feeders 350.00
Saltaire Community Festival Ltd Gazebo 350.00
Kirkgate Centre Table tennis equipment 329.94
Bradford Dolphin Swimming Club Trophies 50.00
Friends of Myrtle Park Plants and tools 347.00
Burley-in-Wharfedale Bowls Club Towards new clubhouse 350.00
DMI Community Centre Start up grant 330.00
Hirst Wood Regeneration Group Benches 264.00
Aire Rivers Trust Towards removal of vehicle from river 350.00
Bradford Disability Sport and Leisure Transport and entrance fees 150.00
Friends of Trinity (PTFA) Picnic bench and sun shade 257.97
Bolton Villas Family Church Toilet seats 132.00
Cottingley Community Centre Start up grant 250.00
Springfield Patient Participation Group CPR kit 350.00
Higher Coach Road Residents Group Noticeboard and donations box 350.00
Bingley Remembrance Group Start up grant 500.00
Redbeck Allotments Association Polycarbonate sheets 397.20
Words on the Hill Story telling event 400.00
Throstle Nest RDA Group Riding helmets 348.00
5th Shipley Scout Group Tables and chairs 477.03
One In A Million Football equipment 412.48
Carers and Parents of Wycliffe Gardening storage and equipment 250.00
Menston Community Association Christmas tree holders and lights 500.00
Bingley Camera Club Photo frames 463.47
Salts Tennis Club Portable defibrillator 500.00

TOTAL £11,500.00

Page 74


	Agenda
	7 *SCAPAG MEETING NOTES - WEDNESDAY 15 JANUARY 2020
	8 PROTECTING CHILDREN AND VULNERABLE ADULTS AT RISK OF EXPLOITATION
	9 SHIPLEY AREA NEIGHBOURHOOD POLICING TEAM ACTIVITY TO ADDRESS THE "SAFER COMMUNITIES" PRIORITIES WITHIN THE SHIPLEY CONSTITUENCY WARD PLANS FOR 2017-2019
	10 COMMUNITY CHEST GRANTS 1 APRIL 2019 TO 31 MARCH 2020

